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LBITER OF TRANSMITTAL .

2k April 1962

.
Sir,

T have the honcur to refer to General Assembly resolution 1628 (XVI) of
26 Cctcbher 1961 estatlishing a Commission of investigation into the ¢
conditions and circumstances resulting in the tragic death of
Mr. Tag Hammarskjold and of members of the party acccmpanying him and, at
..... the request of the Commissiocn, to submit to you the attached report in
accordance with paragraph 4 of the said resolution.

The Ccmmission approved its report at its last meeting on 8 NMarch 1962
in Geneva. However, in transmitting it to the Secretary-General for
submission, the Commission noted that it had requested certain scientific
tests to be performed on the wreckage of the airplane, involving the
remelting of blocks of aluminium and light alloys which had been melted and
fused in the fire following the crash. For this purpose the Secretary-
General had arranged for the appointment by the United Nations of an expert
to participate with the Khcdesian authorities in the remelting of the metal
blocks and to perform laboratory tests on the residue (see paragraph 47 of
the report).

As these tests were still in progress, the Commission asked that its
report should not be submitted until these experiments were completed and
the Commission members had had an opportunity to consider the results. The
report of the expert appointed by the United RNations, containing the
results of the tests, was received by the Secretary-General on 6 April 1962
and was communicated to the members of the Commission. Having examined
these results, the members of the Ccmmission have concluded that no
reconsideration of thelr report is necessary and have authorized the release
of the report as previously approved. The report of the expert containing
the results of these scientific tests is annexed to the report of the
Commissicn (see amnex XIIL).

Accept, Sir, the assurances of ny highest consideration.

Acting Secretary-General

His Excellency

Mr. Mcngli S5linm

President of the sixteenth session
of the General Assembly
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LIST OF ABEREVIATIONS

. Alert phase

Above sea level

. Ndola local time

Civil Air Search Officer

. Distress phase

. Flight Information Centre

. Plight level

. International Civil Aviation Organization
. Uncertainty phase

. Non-directional beacon

. United Nations Organization in the Congo

. Registration number of Lord Lansdowne's aircraft

Altimeter setting to obtain altitude reading above
airport

. Altimeter setting to obtain altitude reading above

sea level

. Rescue Co-ordination Centre

Royal Rhodesian Air Force

Registration number of Secretary-General's aircraft

. Greenwich Mean Time (GMT)
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REPORT OF THE COMMIGETON OF INVESTIGATION

INTRODUCTION

1. On 18 September 1961, the whole world learnt with profound grief of the
tragic death of Dag Hammarskjcld, Secretary-General of the United Nations, in
the service of the Organization and in the performance of the mission which he
had undertaken for peace and the independence of peoples. 1In this tragedy the
following fifteen persons acccmpanying him also met their deaths:

Mr. Heinrich A. Wieschhoff, Mr. Vladimir Fabry, Mr. William Ranallo,

Miss Alice Lalande, Mr. Harold M, Julien, Mr. Serge L. Barrau, Mr. Francis Eivers,
Mr. Stig Olof Hjelte, Mr. Per Edvald Persson, Mr. Per Hallonquist,

Mr. Nils-Eric ﬁahréus, Mr. Lars Litton, Mr. Nils GOran Wilhelmsson,

Mr. Harold Noork, Mr. Karl Erik Rosén.

2. In carrying out the task entrusted to us of investigating the circumstances
of the tragic death of Dag Hammarskjold and his asscociates, we, the members of
the Ccmmission appointed for that purpose, were aware that we were inquiring
into the causes of the deaths of men who have laid down their lives in the
performance of a mission the purpose of which was to secure a better life for
millions. For this reason, we feel it incumbent upon us at the beginning of
this report to express our profound respect and high regard for Dag Hammarskjold
and for the other victims engaged in this mission.

bR The late Secretary-General left New York by air on 12 September and
e Shy IR 5

arrived at LgoEQle1;;§M9Q“;jvé@p&g@pgg;ggé}iﬁ The pﬁrpose of his journey was to

- e

discuss with the Central Government the adoption of a programme of aid to the
Republic of the Congo. Immediately after his arrival, however, he was confronted
with a grave crisis in the relations between the United Nations and the provincial
authorities of Katangs.

L, The crisis arose out of the implementation by ONUC - the United Nations
Organization in the Congo - of part A, paragraph 2, of the resolution adopted by
the Cecurity Council on 21 February 1961 (S/4741l). In this paragraph the Council
urged that "measures be taken for the immediate withdrawal and evacuation from

the Congo of all Belgian and other foreign military and para-military personnel

and political advisers not under the United Nations Command, and mercenaries'.
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. 5. By far the largest concentration of such personnel, about 500 men, was to
be found in the Katangese armed forces. 1In the months which followed the !

adoption of this resolution, ONUC attempted to implement the provisions of {
part A, paragraph 2, by agreement with the provincial authorities of Katanga and,
in particular, their chief, Mr. Tshomb€. This attempt achieved only partial
success, and the United Nations military command was compelled to set a tilie
limit for the surrender, for purposes of evacuation, of all mercenaries in the
service of the provincial authorities of Katanga. On the expiration of the

time limit, however, over 100 mercenaries known to be in Katanga had failed l
to report to ONUC, and on 13 September the Military Command took precautionary J
measures to facilitate the task of apprehending and evacuating these men. These
measures were met by force, and fighting broke out at Elisabethville and in

other Katangese cities (S/L9k0). |

6. Hostilities were not limited to ground forces. Whereas the United Nations

had no armed aircraft, the Katangese authorities put into action a jet "Fouga
Magister" carrying two machine guns and a small bomb load. This aircraft
considerably hampered the movement of United Nations transport planes and in

some instances prevented the supply and relief of United Nations units.

7. In the meantime, several contacts with Katangese officials were arranged

for the purpose of bringing about an immediate cease-fire, but no results had

been achieved by the evening of 15 September. During 16 September the Secretary-
General considered the possibility of a meeting in Rhodesia between himself and

Mr. Tshomb€. 1In the course of the night, the United Nations representative at

Elisabethville received, through the British Consul, a message informing the

United Nations that Mr. Tshombé wished to meet him at Bancroft, Northern Rhodesia,

on 17 September at 0930 GMT. The Secretary-General sent a reply in vhich he

—— i

recalled the guiding principles of the United Nations action in the Congo and
suggested that he should meet Mr. Tshomb€ personally. He specified, however,

that "the proposed meeting obviously requires that orders should be given
beforehand for an immediate and effective cease-fire" (S5/LoL0/add.L, para. 7).

He proposed therefore that "such a cease-fire should be formally imposed by both
sides so as to make a meeting possible'". He pointed out, furthermore, that as
there were no adequate landing facilities for a large aircraft at Bancroft he would

be unable to arrive there by the time suggested by Mr. Tshomb€. He accordingly
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suggested that the projected meeting should take place at a later hour at Ndola,
Northern Rhodesia. The Secretary-General concluded his reply to Mr. Tshcmbé
with the following words: .
"I shall inform you as early as possible tomorrow morning /_7 eptember/ °
of my time of arrival /_f Ndola/, allowing for the fact that before I
leave I must have your reply to this message, including your decision
regarding the cease-fire. The cease-fire will occur autcmatically on the ®
United Nations side, in view of the fact that, according to the
instructions given and the rules followed by the Organization, it only

opens fire in self-defence. I am awaiting your urgent reply to this
proposal for a meeting and for an immediate cease-fire" (3/h9L0/ada.l,

para. 7).
8. In the morning of 17 September, the British Consul at Elisabethville
transmitted a message to the United Nations frcm Mr. Tshembé stating that he
agreed to "the principle of an immediate cease-fire" and was prepared to meet
the Secretary-General at Ndola. Mr. Tshombé specifically requested, however,
"that United Nations troops be confined to their camps"” and "that the United
Nations stop troop movements and the sending of reinforcements by land and
air" (ibid., para. 10).
9. In answer to this message, the Secretary-General instructed the United
Nations representative at Elisabethville to inform Mr. Tshombé that he found
it "impossible to accept the conditions for a cease~fire and a meeting which
have been conveyed to him". He emphasized that "there can be no question of
anything but an unconditional cease-fire on both sides and an agreerent to meet
together, all other modalities obviously to be discussed in the course of the
meeting" (ibid., para. 12). .

10. When, however, the United Nations representative at Elisabethville asked

was informed that Mr. Tshombé had chartered an aircraft and was expected to leave
for Ndola shortly.

11. In the circumstances, the Secretary-General decided to proceed to Ndola

and took off from Leopoldville at 1551 GMT in the plane of the Force Commander,

a 2C.6.B bearing the registration letters SE-BDY. At 2210 GMT, SE-BDY radioced
"overhead Ndola" and was seen flying over the airport. A few minutes later it

disappeared frcm sight in a westerly direction, and all efforts to re-establish

Jur.
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radio contact failed. Cn the next day, 18 September, at 131C GMT, the wreckage

of the aircraft was sighted frcem the air 9.5 miles west of Ndola. When the police
arrived at the site of the crash, they found only one survivor - Sergeant Julien -
who was in so serious a condition that he died a few days later.

12, On 29 September Dag Hammarskjold was buried at Uppsala. Two days before

his funeral, several Member States had requested the General Assembly to place

on its agenda an item entitled "An international investigation into the

conditions and circumstances resulting in the tragic death of Mr. Pag Hammarskjold
and of members of the party acccmpanying him" (A/4896 and Add.1-6). By unanimous
decision the item was placed on the agenda on 13 October; it was discussed on

26 October, at the 1042nd plenary meeting.

13. At that meeting the Assembly had before it a draft resolution

(A/L..356/Rev.l and Add.1-5) providing for the establishment of a United Nations
Ccmmission to conduct an investigation into all the conditions and circumstances
surrounding this tragedy. In the course of the discussion the following arguments
were advanced in support of the draft resclution: the investigation should be
carried out under the auspices of an international body, in order to satisfy
public opinion and allay the world-wide concern aroused by the magnitude of the
tragedy and by its political and historical importance; the United Nations should
conduct this investigation as a tribute to the Secretary-General and the other
victims of the disaster; an international investigation should be conducted

under the auspices of the United Nations in order that the independence and
impartiality of the inquiry should be assured; the investigation should provide
answers to the rumours, fears and speculations to which the tragedy gave rise; the
investigation should determine any responsibility involved; finally, the
investigation should assist in preventing the occurrence of such disasters in

the future and in ensuring maximum protection for those performing functions in
the service of the United Nations.

1k. At the end of the discussion, the draft resolution was adopted by the

General Assembly by 97 votes to none and became resolution 1628 (XVI) {see Annex I).
On 8 December, the General Assembly appointed the following persons as members

of the Ccmmission:

s
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Mr. Justice Samuel Bankolé JONES (Sierra Leone)
Mr. Radl QUIJANO (Argentina)

Mr. Justice Emil SANDSTROM (Sweden)
Mr. Rishikesh SHAHA (Nepal)

Mr. Nikola SRZENTIC (Yugoslavia) .
The Secretary-General assigned Mr. Blaine Sloan as Principal Secretary and .
Mr. Nicholas Teslenko as Deputy Principal Secretary of the Commission. Through *
the courtesy of the Tnternational Civil Aviation Organization (ICAOQ),
Mr, Neil Richardson, Director of the Middle East Regional Office of ICAOQ, and
Mr. R.H. Mankiewicz, a member of the Legal Bureau of ICAO, who had acted as
counsel for the United Natlons at the Federal Ccmmission of Inquiry, were
seconded to the United Nations to serve as the Commission's Aeronautical and Alr
Law Advisers, respectively.
15. The terms of reference of the Ccmmission are set out in operative

paragraph 3 of resolution 1628 (XVI) as follows:

"The General Assembly,

3. Decides that an investigation of an international character,
under the auspices of the United Nations, should be held immediately
into all the conditions and clrcumstances surrounding this tragedy, and
more particularly as to:

(a) Why the flight had to be undertaken at night without escort;

(b) Why its arrival at Ndola was unduly delayed, as reported;

(c) Whether the aircraft, after having established contact with the ¢
tower at Ndola lost that contact, and the fact of its having crashed did
not beccme known until several hours afterwards, and if so, why;
L]

(d) wWhether the aircraft, after the damage it was reported to have
suffered earlier from firing by aircraft hostile to the United Nations, was
in a proper condition for use."
16, While the sub-paragraphs set forth four specific questions to be inquired
into by the Ccmmission, the opening sentence gives it the general mandate to
investigate "all the conditions and circumstances surrounding this tragedy". Tt .

is clear frcm the resolution itself and frcm the discussion in the General

/...
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Assembly that the specific questions were not intended in any way to restrict the

general mandate of the Ccmmission,

17. 1In the present report, part I describes the programme of work of the
Ccmmission and the relationship of its invesrigation to those conducted under
the auspices of the Federation of Rhodesia and Nyasaland. The three following
parts deal with the conditions and circumstances surrounding the disaster,
namely: the departure, the flight and crash, and the search and rescue
operations. Each of these parts attempts to provide an answer to the specific
questions asked by the General Assembly which are relevant to the subject matter
deglt with therein. Finally part V summarizes the views expressed in the

preceding parts.

/..
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L. THE INVESTIGATICN CONLCUCTED BY THE UNITED NATICNS CCOMMISSTION

18. The United Nations Commission of Investigation held meetings in New York
from 15 to 22 December 1961 and at Leopoldville, Ndola and Geneva frcm
ol January to 8 March 1962.

A. OTHER INVESTIGATIONS

19. ZPRefore this report proceeds to give a more detailed description of the work
of the Ccmmission, it will be useful to note cother investigations which have

teen conducted.

20. TIn adopting resolution 1628 {(XVI}, the General Assembly noted that other
inquiries had been or were being conducted by Governments or parties concerned.
Representatives who spoke on this matter in the General Assembly considered that
there should be no conflict between the different investigations and that the
results of previous investigations could facilitate the task of the United Nations
Ccmmission. The Ccmmission has taken into account these suggestions and examined

very carefully the results of the previous investigations.

1. Rhodesian Board of Investigation

2l. TImmediately after the crash, a Board of Investigation was set up by the
Federal Government of Rhodesia and Nyasaland, the State in which the accident
cccurred, in accordance with article 26£ of the Convention on International Civil
Aviation and annex 13 (Standards and Recommended Practices - Aircraft Accident
Ingquiry) to that Convention as implemented by section 1hhk of the Federal Air
Navigation Regulations, 195k.

1/ Article 26 provides: "In the event of an accident to an aircraft of a

B contracting State occurring in the territory of another contracting State, and
involving death or serious injury, or indicating serious technical defect in
the aircraft or air navigation facilities, the State in which the accident
occurs will institute an inquiry into the circumstances of the accident, in
accordance, so far as 1ts laws permit, with the procedure which may be
recommended by the Internaticnal Civil Aviation Crganization. The State in
which the aircraft is registered shall be given the opportunity to appoint
observers to be present at the inquiry and the State holding the inquiry
shall ccmmunicate the report and findings in the matter to that State.”

[ooe
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22. This Board, whose Chairman was Lt. Colonel M.C.H. Barber, the Federal
Director of Civil Aviation, conducted its investigation from 19 September to

2 November 1961. The Board, in addition to the Chairman, was ccmposed of two
Rhodesian members and one United Kingdcm member. Its report, to which were
attached a number of annexes, including a detailed technical examination of the
wreckage, was concluded on 11 January 1962 (see annex IT). In addition a report
on the medical investigation was also prepared for the Board of Investigation.

2%. In accordance with annex 13 to the Convention on Internaticnal Civil Aviation
referred to above, observers for Sweden, the State of registry of the aircraft,
were invited to attend. Similar invitations were extended to the observers
designated by the United Nations, The United Nations observers were

Mr. J.P. Fournier and Mr. ReT. Nelson of ICAO. Each had had wide experience

of aircraft accident investigations in their national services before joining the
staff of ICAO, and Mr. Nelson had been in charge of ICAO's Accident Investigation
Unit. Both the Swedish and the United Nations observers, as well as
representatives of Transair, Sweden, the operators of the aircraft, and of the
Internaticnal Federation of Airline Pilots Associations participated fully in the
investigation. The names of the members constituting this Board of Investigation,

together with those of gll observers, will be found in annex II, paragraph 22.

2. Rhodesian Commission of Indquiry

2L, In addition to the Board of Investigation, a Federal Commission of Inquiry
was established under the Federal Commissions of Inquiry Act, 1955, also in
conformity with the provisions of annex 13 to the Convention on International
Civil Aviation. The Commission of Inguiry had the following terms of reference:
to inquire into "The cause or causes of and circumstances surrounding the accident
involving aircraft SE-BDY near Ndola during the night of 17 September 1961,
including any matter or circumstances relating to the preparation for and flight
of the alrcraft, the accident, the deaths of the occupants, and the conduct of
any person or authority concerned before, during and after the accident'.

25. By letter of 8 December 1961 to the President of the General Assembly, the
Permanent Representative of the United Kingdcm, on behalf of the Government of

the Federation of Rhodesia and Nyasaland, invited the United Nations to designate

o
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a member of the Federal Ccmmission of Tnquiry. By the same letter, the -
representative of the United Kingdcm informed the Fresident of the General
Assembly that the Federal Government had also requested the Governments of Sweden ’
and the United Kingdcm and ICAO to designate members of the Federal Commission. °
He added that the fifth member of the Federal Commission would be the Chief
Justice of the Federation of Rhodesia and Nyasaland, who would act as Chairman.
26. The President of the General Assembly, in accordance with a suggestion made
by the Permanent Representative of the United Kingdcm, referred the gquestion to
the United Nations Ccocmmission of Investigation, which was then hoélding its
organizational meetings in New York. After careful consideration, the Commission
concluded that the harmonization desired by the General Assembly between the two
different investigations could best be achieved by co-oOperation and exchange of
information between the investigating bodies, the investigations themselves being
kept separate.
27. Accordingly it advised the President of the General Assembly as follows:
"The Ccmnission has gilven careful ccnsideration to this letter and the

Chairman has also discussed the subject with the Permanent Representative
of the United Kingdom.

"The Commission considers that it would be best that the United Nations
investigation should be kept separate from the Rhodesian investigation, and
therefore does not reccmmend that the United Nations appoint a member to the
Public Commission of the Federation.

"The question was also discussed whether it would be advisable for the
United Nations to name an observer to the Commission. There was, however,
no consensus on this point. The Cormmission does not make a positive
reccrmendation for the appointment of an observer by the United Nations, but
would make no objection should the President of the General Assembly or
the Secretary-General deem it advisable that an observer be appointed.

"The Commission would also desire to inform the President that it has
received proposals frcm the Rhodesian authorities for co-operation between
the two Commissions and will discuss wlth the appropriate authorities the
best methods of effecting co-operation.”

28. In the light of this opinion, the President of the General Assembly answered

the Permanent Representative of the United Kingdom in the following terms:

Jon.
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"After full and sympathetic consideration of the invitation the Commission
concluded that it would be best that the United Nations investigation should
be kept separate from the Rhcdesian Investigation and hence was nct able to
recommend that the United Nations appoint a member to the Public Ccmmission of
Ergquiry of the Federation.

"The Commission has, however, informed me that it has received proposals
from the Rhedesian authorities for co-operation between the two Commissions
and that further steps will be taken urgently to effect this co-operation which
should prove to be of advantage to both inquiries.

"T have discussed this matter with the Secretary-General who joins me in
agreement regarding the views expressed by the United Nations Commission."

29. The Government of Sweden likewise decided not to designate a member. The
Government of the United Kingdom and ICAO accepted the invitation of the Federétion
of Rhodesia and Nyasaland and designated members to the Rhodesian Commission.

3C. The Secretary-General appointed counsel to represent the interests of the
United Nations in the bhearings of the Rhodesian Commission and in matters related
to the subject of the inguiry. Following the conclusion of the Fkcdesian hearings,
which were held from 16 to 29 January 1962 at Ndola and Salisbury, counsel for the
United Nations, Mr. R.H. Mankiewicz, reported to the United Nations Commission on

the proceedings of the Federal Commission. The report of the Federal Ccmmission

was made public on 9 February 1962 (see annex III).
B. WORK OF THE CCMMISSION

1. New York session (15-22 December 1961)

31. When it first met in New York on 15 December 1961 the Commissicr elected its
officers: Mr. Rishikesh Shaha (Nepal) was unanimously elected Chairman of the
Ccmmission and Mr. Radl Quijano (Argentina) was unanimously elected Rapporteur.

Sir Alexander MacFarguhar attended the meetings in New York as the representative
of the Secretary-General. The Commission considered the preogramme and organization
of its work, and decided on the relationship of its investigation to these then
proceeding in Rhodesia. It alsc received a report from Mr. T.R. Nelson (ICAO), one
of the United Nations observers to the Fhodesian Bcard of Investigation. The
Commission heard three additional witnesses, including Mr. A.W. Cordier,
Under-Secretary for General Assembly and kelated Affairs, with respect to general

security procedures which had been observed for the protection of the

Secretary-General.
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2. Leopoldville session (24-30 January 1962)

%32, The Ccamission met at Leopoldville from 24k to 30 January 1962. At its

first meeting it received a report from Mr. J.P. Fournier (ICAO), the other
United Nations observer at the Rhodesian Board of Investigation. During this
session it also heard all witnesses then present in the Congo (Leopoldville) who
could give any information concerning the planning, organization, security
arrangements and communications with respect to the Secretary-General's flight or
with respect to the crew of the aircraft. These witnesses included Mr. S. Linnér,
Officer-in-Charge of the United Nations Organization in the Conrgo (ONUC),

Lt. Gen. Sean McEoin, Commander of the United Nations Forces in the Congo, and
Mr. D.M.H. Riches, the British Ambassador. The Commission also heard other
witnesses who were present in the city or who had come to Leopoldville in order to
make statements to the Commission. Among these were officials Af Transalr, the
Swedish company which was the operator of the aircraft. During its meetings at
Leopoldville,'the Ccomission heard twenty-three witnesses in plenary session;
eight witnesses were interviewed by the Chairman and Principai Secretary, who

reported to the Ccumission on these interviews.

B First Salisbury session (31 January - 7 February 1962)

33« At the urgent request of the Federal Government of Rhodesia and Nyasaland,
the Commission decided to go to Salisbury before visiting Ndols, in order to
discuss with the authorities of the Federal Government the legal and practical
arrangements necessary for the conduct of its hearings. The Commission en route
from Leopoldville to Salisbury flew over the crash site in order to view it

frcm the air.

34. The Cocmmission held public hearings in the Federal Supreme Court building
frcm 2 to 7 February, during which time it heard fifteen witnesses, including two
meﬁbers of the Swedish investigation team who had participated in the work of the
Board of Investigation, the United Kingdom member of the Board of Investigation,
the Chief Medical Examiner, and personnel of the Salisbury Air Traffic Control
and Flight Information Centre. The Commission also visited at Salisbury Airport

the Flight Information Centre and the Airport Control Tower.

/o
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‘4, Naola session (8 = 14 February 1962)

55. The Ccmmission held pdblic hearings at Ndola frem 8 to 14 February and heard
twenty-eight witnesees, including many persons who had seen the aeroplane shortly

" before the cresh, the police officers who had first reached the scene of the

'crash, the eirport and air traffic control personnel from Ndola airport, and
doctors and hoSpitei'personnel who had‘taken care of Sgt. Julien. The Commission
also Viewedethe;eite of the crash, exaﬁihed the wreckage - which had been sealed

in an airport hahgar;xvisitedAthe control tower, and finally visited the

- charcoal burners*-ccmpednd'and the actual positions in the bush frcm which scme

of the African witnesses-had observed the crash. One of its hearinge was conducted
in’ the Ndola West Forest Reserve on spots from which witnesses had observed the

crash

5, _Second Salisbury session (15 - 16 February 1962)

A‘\56.. The Commission returned to Salisbury and held hearings on 15 and 16 February,
at which time it heard the Rhodesian members of the Board of Investigation and a
nurse who had taken care of Sgt. Julien shortly after he had been brought to the
'thSpltal. '

6. Geneva_sessidﬁ (él.FeBrdary - 8 March 1962)
37. "The Ccmmission continded its meetings at Geneva on 21 February. It heard
statements fromiLordiiandédowne, the United_Kingde Joint Parliamentary -
Under-Secretary Qf~State for Foreign,Affairs, and Mr. A.E. Landin, the Swedish
'repreeentative.at'the"Rhedesien BOard.Qf Investigation. It also heard
'Mr,-Spinelli,-Direetor:ofuiheGEdropean Office of the United Nations, and
: Mr.-Knut Hammarskjbld;_nephew.ef the late Secretary-General, who had gone to
NdoleuimmediateljIefter”the.cresh. ‘The, Commission also heard final statements
.from counsel representlng the Goverrments of Sweden, the United Kingdcm and the
. Federation of Rhode51a and Nyasaland. '
28. The Conm1ss1on devoted,twelve meetlngs to the preparatlon of its report,

- which was completed on 8 March 1962.

/.
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C. GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

1 Frocedures and methods of work of the Ccmmission

39. The United Nations Ccmmission had before it the reports and proceedings of ®
the Rhodesian Board of Investigation and the Rhodesian Commission of Inquiry as
well as all exhibits sutmitted to the latter. This material included a detailed
technical report on the wreckage, a detailed medical report on the examination of
the victims of the tragedy, and statements or verbatim records of all testimony

cf witnesses taken by either the Board of Investigation or the Commission of
Inquiry (see paras. 21-30 above).

40. As already mentioned, the Ccmmission received full reports frem Mr. Nelson
and Mr. Fournier, the United Nations oObservers at the Rhodesian Roard of
Investigation and frcm Mr. Mankiewicz, United Nations counsel before the

Rhodesian Commission of Inquiry. It also heard the views of the Swedish Government
representative, the representatives of Transair, and the Rhodesian and United
Kingdcm members of the Board of Investigation. It received from the Government of
Sweden an analysis of the Rhodesian medical report made for the Royal Medical

Board of Sweden.

41, The United Nations Commission, having taken ncte of all the evidence

submitted to the Rhodesian Board of Investigation and to the Rhodesian Ccmmission
of Inquiry, did not consider it necessary to duplicate all the work already done.
It did, however, hear all the witnesses whose evidence it was thought might yield
new information or whose appearance was regarded as essential for the purpose

of forming a Jjudgement about earlier testimony. Altogether, the United Nations
Ccmmission heard ninety witnesses, of whem twenty-five had not previously either
made statements or given evidence (see annex IV). -
L2, As far as possible, the Commission permitted each witness to tell his story

in his own way. Additional information was elicited by guestions frcm the members

of the Commission and by counsel for interested Goverrnments.

43. In this connexion it was also agreed by the Ccmmission (see para. 50 below)

that interested Governments might be represented by ccunseél. at its public hearings

and might put questions tc witnesses thrcugh the Chair:an of the Cormission. The

[oes
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Ccmmission reserved the right to hold private hearings if it considered them
necessary, but did not in fact utilize this right in Rhodesia.

Lh, At its hearings, the Government of the Federation of Rhodesia and Hyasaland
was represented by Mr} C.5. Margo, Queen's Counsel, and Mr. FP.C. Cooke of the
Government Solicitor's Department. The Government of Sweden was represented by
Mr. Ts Thompson, Mr. T. Tscherning and Mr. A. Edelstam, and the Government of the
Unitedeingdcm by Dr. D. Neill and Mr. P.S. Bevan.

2. Appeal for witnesses

4L5. Before the opening of its hearings in Rhodesia the United Nations Ccmmission

issued the following appeal for witnesses:

"The Commission appointed by the United Nations to investigate the
death of the Secretary-General, Mr. Dag Hammarskjold, will begin hearings
in Salisbury Zﬁdolg/ on 1 February Z@ Februarx/ 1962,

"The Commission, which is an international body established by the
General Assembly of the United Nations, appeals to every person, who may
have information concerning the subject of its inguiry, to contact its i
offices at the following address: i

Jaddress given/ "

46. This appeal was published in the African and English Press and broadcast on
the radio. In addition, posters in African languages and in English were
displayed in and near Ndola and distributed to Africans living in the vicinity of

the crash. In response to this appeal, five persons who had not been heard at

R e . A A AR Y, e TR AT 8 AT -

previous investigationé appeared to give testimony. T

e Additional investigation

M?. The Commission decided to request certain additional tests on the wreckage.
The most important of these was decided at the suggestion of the Government of
Sweden and will involve the remelting of blocks of aluminium and light alloys

that had been melted and fused in the fire which followed the crash (see para. 113
below) and subsequent scientific examination of the residue; the object of this

test is to determine if any foreign materials, such as explosives, bulléts, or

shell or rocket fragments, are present in the wreckage. For this purpose the

[eos
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Secretary-General arranged for an expert'appointed_bj‘the UnitediNations'torj}: Ca
participate with the Rhodesian authorities in ‘the tests which were to be = |

2/

carried out.

L, Co- operation ‘between the United Nations Ccmmission and the RhodeS1an '__ oo S .
Cormission . } - - ARV :

L8. TIn order to achleve the maximum co operation, the Chairman of the United
Nations Commission.exchanged views w1th the Chairman of the Rhodes1an Commission‘ e
of Inquiry. It'was agreed that consultation on the c¢co- ordination of working |
programmes would be useful and should be carried out between the two Chairmen. :a
L9, It was also agreed that the United Nations Comm1ss1on would not . take )

R e
evidence in the Federation before the Federal COmmission had. ccmpleted its, hearings,_f
gntf;;uld begin hearings in the Federation 1mmediately after the" completion of the
Federal hearings. It was - further agreed that the Federal Ccmmission would place o
the records of its proceedings at the disposal of the United Nations Comm1ss1on
and that the Rhodesian authorities would so far as poss1ble make available all
Rhodesian witnesses. The United Nations CommisS1on would make available to the
Federal Commission all relevant ev1dence taken in the Congo and’ would use 1ts

good offices for the purpose of securing the attendance of w1tnesses to testify

in the proceedings of the Rhodesian Commiss10n.

50. Although Rhodesian law requires that'counsel before anublic.commissioniof

inquiry must be a lawyer admitted to practice in the Federation,:the Rhodesian'
—

Commission was authorized by the Federal Government to accredit the ‘eounsel for

the United Nations as "the representative of the United Nations and to grant him

et e et e e

— e B i UL I —— . . "
the rights and privileges of counsel in puttingAquestions to Witnesses, address1ng
\-‘-__—v '_____,_,_..a—r—-——""""—“ e
the Commission and presenting ev1dence. The United Nations CommiSSion, departing

T T T T S i T T . . P
2/ The report of the expert app01nted by the United Nations, Dro Frei Sulzer,
- Chief of the Scientific Department of the. Zurich Police ‘and Professor of -
Science Criminology at the University of Zurich, was’ received: by the .
Secretary-General .on 6 April. No foreign materials were found. The
expert's report was circulated to the. members -of the Comm1SS1on who, after
studying the results of the tests; have concluded -that no recon81deration
of the report of the Ccmmission is necessary. The - report of the- expert _
containing the results of the tests is reproduced .as annex XII.- o o e

thy{{jé n..;
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- frem normal- United Nations practice in ccnmissions of inquiry, agreed that the
Rhodesian Government and other interested governments might be represented by
counsel in all its public hearings.

51. ©Cn the day of its arrival at Leopoldville (2& January) the Ccmmission
received a communication from the British Ambassador to the Republicvof.the

Congo (Leopoldville) forwarding a request of the Rhodesian Commission of Tnquiry
that the United Nations Commission give urgent consideration to the material
contained in the report of the Rhodesian Board of Investigation and inform the
Federal Commission whether there was any material felevant to the inquiry of which
it was aware and which did not appear to have ccme to the attention of the

Rhodesian Board of Investigation.

52. In reply to this request the Principal Secretary informed the British
Ambassador that the United Nations Commission had only just begun its meetings

at Leopoldville and did not at that stage have any information which it considered
would be of value. At the same time he conveyed the Commission's assurances of
its desire to co-operate and of its intention to make available to the Federal
Ccnmission any material relevent to the latter's inguiry which should come to

its attention.

5%. The Chairman of the United Nations Ccmmission, in a letter to the Chairman

of the Rhodesian Commission, alsc gave assurances that he would not fail to bring
to the attention of the Rhodesian Commission any new information which might be

of interest to it. Accordingly, the records of the hearings of the ﬁnited Nations
Ccmmission were given to the Rhodesian authorities for their use and for the use

of the Federal Ccmmission as soon as they were available.

5e Arrangements with the Rhodesian authorities concerning the hearing'of witnesses

5&; The Rhodesian authorities,'in discussions with the Commission, indicated that

the laws of the Federation relating tc the attendance of witnesses could not be

made appllcable to the hearlngs of the United Nations Commission without special

N e et

leglslatlon, which could not be enacted in time for the United Nations hearings.

~—— s s e e e e o s e e e e e ..

Consequently, it would not be possible for the United Nations Commission- to

e e ] e R

SN F
subpoena w1tnesses, admlnlster oaths, or commlt Tor contempt. The authorltles

further expressednthe view that it would not be pOSSlble to treat the statements

e e ——
—

e

of witnesses to the Un1ted Nations Comm1s51on as pr1v1leged .
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55. With respect to the first three points no particular difficulties were
envisaged. The Rhodesian authorities assured the Commission that all officials

desired by the Commission would appear on request and that a551stance would be

T

ziven in obtalnlng the voluntary appearance of w1tg§§§§§4 In fact, while
:%tendance could not be compelled, there was not a single instance in which a
witness requested by the Commission did not appear, and in some cases witnesses
were brought many miles to be available to the Commission.

56. The Commission was, however, concerned at . the suggestion that the testimony

—— e, P

oﬁ_w1tnesses who appeared before it might not be pr1v1;ggg§ In its view a

——

vitness appearing before a United Nations Commission must enjoy privilege against

legal process as a result of such appearance. The view was expressed that such

i e

——, e P R R T e

pr1v1lege was enjoyed under the general prlnc1ples of law and in accordance with

Article 105 of the Charter of the United Nations. Wlthout preJudlce to the legal

i e ST

P051t10n the Rhod651an authorities gave assurances +hat there would b° no

e e e e —

governmental action against any person by reason of his appearance aaq/or

e s

testlmony before the T United Nations Comm1551on

S G

6. TFacilities and expression of appreciation

57. Facilities for the meetings of the Commission in Salisbury and Ndola were
provided by arrangement with the Rhodesian Govermment, and included the use of
the Federal Supreme Court building for the first'session in Salisbury. For its
meetings 1in New York, Lecpoldville and Geneva the Commission had available.the
services and facilities of the United Nations.

58. The Commission wishes to record its gratitude to the Federal authorities of
Rhodesia and Nyasaland for the co-operation and facilities which enabled it to
perform its work in Rhodesia. The Commission likewise wishes to express its
appreciation to the Republic of the Congo (Leopoldville). The Commission also
expresses 1its gratitude to ICAOQ for placing an aeronautical adviser and an adviser
on air law at its disposal. Lastly, the Commission wishes to thank the Governments

of "weden, the United Kingdcm and the Federation of Rhodesia and Nyasaland for the

assistance which their representatives rendered in its work.
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II. THE DEPARTURE OF zE-BDY FROM LEOPOLDVILLE

55, The conditicns and circumstances surrounding the departure cf SE-BDY from
Leconldville are analysed in the present part of the report. In addition, a
reply is given to the questions asked by the General Assembly in paragraphs 5 (a)

and 3 (d) of resolution 1628 (XVI).
A. DIPLOMATIC ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE MISSION OF THE SECRETARY -GENERLL

60. As was mentioned in the Introduction (see para. 7 above), early on
16 Ceptember 1961 a message was sent to Mr. Tshomb€ stating that the Zecretary-
General was prepared to meet him at Ndola. Later in the day the Secretary-General
asked Mr. Riches, the British Ambassador at Leopoldville, to ascertain from the
United Kingdom and Rkodesian Governments whether suitable arrangements cculd be
made at Ndola Airport for the prcjected meeting with Mr. Tshomb€. On the same
evening, Ambassador Riches cent a cable to the Foreign Office requesting that
the necessary facilities for a meeting with Mr. Tshombé at Ndola should be given
to the Secretary-General. The cable was sent with the concurrence of
Lord Lansdowne, Joint Parliamentary Under-Secretary for Foreign Affairs,. who was
visiting Leopoldville at the time on behalf of the United Kingdom Governinent.
61. On Sunday, 17 September, Lord Lansdowne called on the Secretary-Geneisl
at 9.30 a.m. Since no reply to Ambassador Riches' cable had yet been received,
Lord Lansdowne suggested in the course of his visit that he should accompany
the Secretary-General to Ndola in ordef to offer him certain facilities and help)
with arrangements in British territory. Lord Iansdowne explained to the
Commission:

”éfhe Secretary-Geheral7-accepted my suggestion, considering that, since

we had not as yet at that time received clearance from my Government, my

presence in Ndola might be of scme use. Thus, he accepted my sugzestion,
but, after hav1hg con51dered it, he thought it wiser - for polltlcal

travel With Him. He therefore suagested to me that I should go in another
aircraft provided by the United Nations and that I should travel anead of
him. To this suggestion I, of course, readily agreed. I further suggested
that I should not personally see Mr. Tshcmbe€; I felt that it was important
that I should limit my activities to the one purpose of helping to make
arrangements for the meetinzg. I was in no way involved in the negotiations.

1
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62. As regards the time agreed upon for his departure, Lord Lansdowne testified ’ A

as follows:

i

it was suggested that I should leave from Leopcldville in the early
afternoon - about 3 o'clock, I think - and that the Secretary-General
would follow later. I was informed that I would go in a slow aircraft,
a DC.4, and that the Secretary-General would go in a faster aircraft, that
he would start after me and would, of course, achieve the journey in far
less time."
Lord Lansdowne's testimony 1is confirmed by the testimony of Mr. Poujoulat, one of
Mr. Linnér's assistants, who told the Commission that "Lord Lansdowne was
supposed tc take off at approximately % o'clock™. '
63. It is clear from the general tenor of their testimony that both Lord Lansdowne
and Mr. Poujoulat were referring to Leopoldville local time which is one hour
ahead of Greenwich Mean Time, or "Z" in aviation parlance. Therefore, the time
which they mention is 1400 Z.
64. Tt should be noted that Air Operations - a branch of the United Nations
Military Command - understood that Lord Lansdowne was to leave somewhat later
and. issued for his journey to Ndola Flight Order No. 685 giving estimated time
ﬂwm
of departure as 1510 Z, or ten minutes past 4 o'clock local time.
65. Around noon on 17 September the Secretary-General was informed by a telephone
message from the British Embassy that an "all clear' message had been received
from the Foreign Office on the projected meeting at Ndola with Mr. Tshombé.
66. At 1349 Z, Ambassador Riches sent the following cable to Lord Alport,
United Kingdom High Commissioner in. Salisbury: '
"Lord Lansdowne and Wilford will arrive Ndola about 1900. hours to-day
} by UN aircraft and will continue tc Salisbury, returning to Leopcldville
i tcmorrow afterncon. &Lecretary-General is due Ndola this evening by
! separate flight after Lord Lansdowne. Flight details will be notified N
direct from the aircraft.” .
¢7. In the early afternoon Mr. Poujoulat called for Lord Lansdowne and his
assistant, Mr. Wilford, and drove them to the airport, stopping on the way at
Ainbassador Riches' residence and at the British Embassy to collect their documents
and luggage. During the drive to the airport, Mr. Poujoulat talked by radic with

ONUC fecurity concerning the readiness of the DC.4 which was to take Lord Lansdowne

to Ndola and Salisbury. At the airport Lord Lansdowne and Mr. Wilford boarded

/.
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d'the DC.M, bearing the'registration_letters O0-RIC, which had been assigned to
them by Flight Order'No._685, and took off for Ndola at 1504 Z.

'B. PREPARATIONS FOR THE SECRETARY -GENERAL'S FLIGHT ON SE-BDY

- 68. Originally ‘it had been 1ntended that the Secretary-General snould leave for

o e e v e e S ey

Yoola in QO-RIC at 1000.% on l7 oeptember On 16 eptember Alr Operations had

———————-"—"’“——_—‘“ A —— e e
yissued Flight Order No. 675 to that effect However, it was later decided that

et e

:the uecretary-General should fly. in the aircraft of the Force Commander, SE -BDY,

———

_a Docglas oC. 6B belonging to the Swedish company Transair, which was a faster and
B o e - e ey

more comfortable aircraft.. .Flight Order No. 673 was amended accordingly and

- N L R

e

the estimated time of departure for the Secretary-General's flight was ‘changed

>from 1000 Z to 1500 Z. As 1nd1cated above, 00-RIC was assigned to Lord Lansdowne.

. e Y

5o9 SE BDY had flown the Force Commander to Elisabethville on the night of

“;l6 eptember and had returned to Leopoldv1lle at approx1mately 0700 Z on

17 September The crew on that Journey had been composed of Captain Arheus |
'First Officer-Litton and Flight Engineer Wilhelmsson. On landing at Leopoldville,

——— it

”1lhelmsson had reported that SE BDY had been fired on at the take-off from
’Elisabethv1lle. ‘A thorouch inspection of the aircraft was accordingly carried out
under the‘superv151on of Chief Mechanic Tryggvason of Transair. In.the course of
‘the inspection it was Found that number 2 engine (inboard port) had been struck:

by a bullet, which had penetrated'the engine cowling and hit the exhaust pipe.

‘The exhaust pipe was replaced and the plane was refuelled to a total amount of
:-ten,tons * Both- Trycgvason and TJernell ~a mechanic of Transair, testified that this
| work had been completed and that the plane was ready to take off by 1100 Z.

70.; A thorough examination had also been made of the aircraft to make certain

-that there Was no other damage and a careful check had been carried cut.. There
‘was testimony, which the Commiosion considers reliable, to the effect that this

aircraft was in very good conditlion and, as the special plane of the Force

Commander, very well ‘maintained. _Evidence of the airworthiness of the aircraft

'and(particulars of ‘the radio and other equipment carried on board will be found

in Annex .V.
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71. Frcm the time when work on the aircraft was completed (llOO 7)) until
approximately 1500 Z the plane remained unattended on the airfield although,
except whlle they vere at lunch Transalr mechanlcs ~were vorking in the

V1c1n1ty on another alrcraft Durlng thls perlod all ladders were removed

and the main doors of the aircraft were locked. However, the doors giving

access to the hydraulic compartment and to the heating system were unsecured.

No special guard was put round it and the regular United Nations guard detaclment
at the airfield was not asked to provide special security measures for the

aircraft.

72. At about 1590 Z the crew of SE-BDY arrlved at the alrg;eld It was composed

e g T

of tne three men who had flown the aircraft to and from Elisebethville and
Captain Hallonguist, who was to act as pilot in command. Captain Hallonquist,
had not teen on the flight to Elisabethville and is reported to have appeared

rested and in a cheerful state of mind (See annex II, para. 12.9). It is also

ek 1 P A g

noted that there was sleeplng accommodation for the crew on the aircraft and

e et A e b e e At e, —— . A Y e & e e e o T R T e o i T

the£—apparently Captala Arhéus and.Flrst Officer thton alternated as co-pllo+

e o e e e et i et et iy s

First Officer thton accordlng to the testlmonJ of Magor Lgungkv1st haa

annouhced hls 1ntent10n of sleeplng durlng the f1rs+ _bart of the flight. In view

e b T
o ot e e e

(oFi ese facts, it is believed that there was no violation of international
standards and recomaended practices, nor of special regulations applicable in
this regard.

5. The crew had been specially trained for the operation of SE-BDY. Full
particulars of their qualifications and experience may be found in annex II,
paras. L.1-4.4. Captain Hallonquist, in addition to being a skilled pilot,

vas also his ccmpany's navigation officer and instructor. Each of the three
——

pilots held a valid licence as a radio telephony operator. The crew was highly
competent and experienced and Captain Hallonguist was considered to be a reliable
and cautious pilot by all who testified. The Commission is convinced that the
aircraft was properly manned with a conmpetent crew licensed in accordance with
international standards and recommended practices.

Th. 1In the course of its investigation the Commission examined the question

vhether the crew of SE-BDY, having never previously landed at Ndola, could

have difficulties in landing there at night. After hearing expert opinion
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the Commission was satisfied that a night landing at Ndola could not present
any difficulties. In this connexion the Commission has noted that

Captain Hallonguist had flown a total of 7,841 hours, including 2,669 of
instrument and night flight. Reserve Captain Arhéus a total of 7,107 hours,
including 1,500 hours of instrument and night flight; and Co-Pilot Litton
2,707 hours, including 835 hours of instrument and night flight.

75. Because of the danger of an attack by the Fouga Maglster of the
it e e

e

Katangese Armed Forces, it was decided to observe radlo silence during the

e e A AT

fliﬂht to Ndola. 1In order, however, to enable SE-BDY to receive and send

—

o L s e a2 et ety

emerg ency messages, a radio operator, Karl Erlk Rosen vas instructed to Lly

it T e e it S A
O e e e

e
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Vlth the crew and another radio operator was assigned to monitor SK-BDY from

R,
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ear

an ONUC radio statlon installed at Leopoldville airport. Both operato s we re

e A P ey 1 enmvrmimer o

e i e
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1nstlucted to communlcate by Morse code in Swedish so as to render any messaoe

sent by or addressed to SE-EDY less 1ntell1g1ble to the Katangese Armed Forces.

There is no evidence, however, that any messages were sent or recelved.

——
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76. The Chief Communications Officer of ONUC, Leopoldville, was aware thatl

e e Y o e ey - ..,....q..»---. i e ma
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SE-BDY could be contacted on 11318 kc/s whlch was no longer an aelomoblle

A L e L A3 o P =t A ety e e e 1 e S A A S e,
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network frequency in that area, and requested the Najili radlo station to notlfy

EIBDYYS YEdio operator that ONUC Headquarters radio station would be starc1n0 by

——
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ror contact w1th the alrcraft after take off for Ndola. The Chief Communications
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Officer, however was 1nstructed that the ONUC station was not to communicate

A i e et ot by e A e e -

with SE-BDY durlng this fllght Nevertheless ONUC malntalned a llstenlng watch

e - e s

on 11318 ko/s from the time of SE

T e A

Durlno TR £iMe no transm1881on was heard from “E-BDY and no station was heard

to call CE-BDY.

7{~ _éhortly after his arrival at the airport, Captain Hallonquist filed a flight

o = e e o T T

BDY's take off unt1l the crash was conflrned

e T TG e e A .

s i - ——

plan for Luluabourg. The alrcraft would not have been permltted to take off

A e P R e e Ry
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without a fllght plan and, for security reasons, 1t was not desired tc cdeclare
- ; DA ——
the true destlnatlon Actually, in a conversation with Major Ljunglivist of ONUC
e e i + Amrirrs e m s Qg

Air uperatlons who arrlved at the airport shortly before the take-off of -E BDY

rr— e e e o e e e st T 8 i et ey e

Captain Hallonquist mentioned that he would be flylng not to Luluabourg but to

—
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78.' As regards the route which Captain Hallonquist intended to\follow,

Major Ljungkvist testified before the Commission that:

"... when I was with Captaln_Hallonquist and First Officer ﬁrhéusQe o ,. o
we discussed the route of this flight, and at that time the.last beacon _ o
to be used on the way down was Luluabourg. . After that, he told me, ’ Y

'there is no radio navigation aid for me, so I have to go to Luluabourg, and
atter that I do not Kknow if 1 am g01ng to follow the Angolan border or o

- whether I am g01nw to take some other- way' " That was all he told me
ahything about, that he had decided to go to Luluabourg and that after that
he did not know. He told me: 'I am going to prepare the rest of the
flight during the flight, dependent upon_ the spe01al condltlons'
Captain BEIlonguist was to be the navigator himself. He was & “navigation
specialist with the company and was always the teacher at the Company They

told me he was doing the navigation himself.

C. THE ARRIVAL OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL AT LEOPOLDVILLE (NDJILI) LTRPORT
' AND TAKE-OFF- OF SE-BDY '

79. Shortly after 1530 72, the oecretary -General and his party arrived at the
W e R T T A .

airport and boarded SE-BDY. Mr Ranallo, the personal aide of the becretary—~

General, who together with Mr. Julien, the ONUC Acting Chief of oecurlty,-and a
—— e e g . —— - e

team of securlty offlcers was prov1d1ng close personal securlt for the Secretary—f

Aoty sy, e e e .
General searched the cabln of the aircraft immediately. after boarding. In

e Tt e e e e e b e ey

accordance w1th standlno orders 1ssued by the mllltary command after the outbreak

e — e e ..-..—v-""“'
e e

of flghtlng at ElloabeCthlle two ONUC soldiers - Sgt S5.0. Hjelte and

b g

Pvt "P.E. Persson - were placed on board the alrcrart The englnes vere.  started

e e o 4ok A e

and at 1551 Z SE-BDY too& off for 1ts last fllght

Ll S
—

D. SECURITY MEASURES AT LEOPOLD D THE QUESTION.

"OF A FLIGH
80. Before attempting to reply to the d by the General - .. . ¥
Assembly in paragraphs 3 (a) and % (d) ), the Commission L
wishes to comment on two matters dealt ctioho. ‘ o

81. The Commission notes with regret a... voncern that 1n the afternoon of

e T T . TN ot g Bl i e
17 eptember ,E BDY remained for several hours unguarded and unattended on the
—

tarmacEOf the airport. The ev1dence before the Comm1551on shows that & rerson.
. ¢

. _.».-—4-—-—-\

— e e | e
wishing to sabot e the alrcraft might have rf_albed access to it w1thout ‘being

SN, SRS s PP PR —— -

detected. The Comm1351on considers that .its terms of refereoce do not requ1re'

[+
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it %%\pass Jjudgement on individual responsibilities for the lack of special
security measures with respect to the Secretary -General's plane at the

Leopoldville airport, but it must _be observed that necessary co- -ordination

PSS © e s s mm ——

aopears to have been lackrng In this connex1on the evidence shOWed that while

- oD e e e~ e
R e AN N -

P T TSN e (e R

certaln ONUC off1c1als who should have been 1nformed of the proposed fll”ht

ere not SO 1nformed other ONUC personnel not dlrectly concerned hao heard it

i e A s 7 L Siiadere g

dlscussed

i,

éé: The Commission further notes that no flight plan for SE BDY was transnltbed
to oallsbury The Comm1551on has taken into consideration the conditilons
exasting in the Congo at the time and in particular the danger of an attack

frow the "Fouga Magister' which explain this departure from the rules governing
commercial aviation. Indeed, the system of aeronautical communications cannot
ensure the secrecy of messages.

8%. The Commission believes however, that a responsible official c of ONUC

,,._-......_...r- e e e e
————— e ey

should have been informed in advance of the route which Captain Hallonquist

SRS

e e,

intended to follow, ‘so that the Flight Informatlon Centre of Leopoldv1lle

could have initiated the necessary search and rescue action if the ellcrart

allsbury Fllght Informatlon Centre

E. REPLIES TO THE QUESTIONS ASKED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY IN PARAGRAPHS
3 (a) AND 3 (d4) OF RESOLUTION 1628 (XVI)
B, Two of the specific questions asked by the General Assembly in paragraph 3
of resolution 1628 (XVI) relate to the subject matter of the present part of the

report.

85. The first question is contained in sub-paragraph 3 (a) and reads:
"Why the flight had to be undertaken at night without escort”.

86. As regards the first point - why the flight had to be undertaken at night -

the Commission notes that, in his testimony, Mr. Linnér said:

"Two factors were uppermost in Mr. Hammarskjold's mind with regard to
the timing of the meeting. He was anxious, first of all, to arrive at
Ndola as socon as possible in order to avoid the possibility of Mr. Tshombé
having left before he arrived. In the second place, Mr. Hammarskjold and




4/5069
English
Page 50

Lord Lansdowne had agreed that the latter would also go to Ndola on
Junday, But tThat te would coﬁtlnue as early aS FO:Slble for” allsbury and

hat he would" derlhltely leave before the pecretary -General arvive
Lora Tansdowne "s Jeparture from Lecpoldville for reasons unknoun to me
was, however, delayed until L p.m. and as a result the departure of the

n

tecretary-General was also delayed until 4.55 p.m. >

 a——

87. In another part of his testimony Mr. Linndr said:

"Now, a plane had been put at Lord Lansdowne's disposal and it was ready
about lunch time, as far as I know. 1 remember distinctly we sent a message
to the British Embassy, where Leord Lansdowne was having lunch, asking him
when he would be prepared to take off, but for reasons unknown to me, he
could not make it before b o'clock, and, therefore, there was no other thought
in the late Secretary-General's mind than that he was anxious to take off as
so01l as possible and, as things turned out, it happened to become a night
flight."

88. The Commission telieves that the evidence kefore it does not fully support

—

this view., It obsexvea that eveh if Lord oahodovne nad drlveh to the airport

ety i e St e T

it ity ot

1mmed1ately after receiving the _message ° referred to by Mr Llhher ‘he would not

——— R N
nave left Leopoldville in time to allow the Secretary-General to arrive at Ndola

-l e # e e e

oefore dark. The Commission believes furthermore that the testlmony of

T T
Lord Lansdowne and Mr. Poujoulat (see para. 62 referred to above), as well as the

——r IRV

T T et et e e T e e et et e e
e e

eotimated times of departure given in Flight Orders Nos. 67% and 685 (see

P — M-..«~-~—"" -

paras. 6I and 68 above) show that the oecretary-General Tiad decided to take off

from Leopoldv1lle not earller thah lSOO Z, or 4 p.. local time. In these

c1rcumstances as dec1ded by the Secretary—General himself, the major part of hlS

e

L SN

flight o Tdola had to be undertaken at night.

e i e e R = R L s s e, e s

8o There appear to be several reaaons why the Secretary—General‘s flight

dld not leave at an earller hour. Durlhg the morhlng of 17 peptember as has been

DU i R

- PRURRSRE S

noted repalrs were in progress on the alrcraft Moreover as noted in the

fhtroduction to this report“ dlSCuSSlOHS concerhlhg the meetlng w1tn Mr Tslombé
e e e,

—_—

had contlnued throughout “that mornlng, ahd the d60151on concerhlng the time of

.

pe—— T e e e e T

departure nust have been influenced by thé efforts to communicate with Nr Tshombe

e o e A i e e e

through the Brltlsn Consul at Ellsabethv1lle Tt is also clear that the “ecretary—

e p

o e SN s AT—

General W1ahed to arrive at Ndola after Lord Lansdowne had had time to land and
AN.__..-'—-—-————-—-“’ - et
depart, and thls also conditioned the time of his departure. All these -

e -
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61rcumstances taken together may have rendered a night flight unavoidable in any
e YRRty treli R S

i~

event. It is also relevant to observe that, because of the danger of an attack

o - e s e

frcom the. Fouga Magister" ,.most . of-the flights in the Congo_at the_tlme were

undertaken at night.

Kn e s

G3. As to the second point - why the flight had to be undertaken without

escort - the Ccmmission notes that ONUC had no flghter planes in the Congo

S IR SO

gb.the time and that no request for an escort over Rhodesian territory was
submitted to the Govermment of the Federation of Rhodesisa and Nyasaland.
91. The second question appears in sub-paragraph % (d) of the resolution and
reads:
"Whether the aircraft, after the demage it wss reported to have suffered
earlier from Tiring by aircraft hostile to the United Nations, was in &
proper condition for use."
The Comrmission is satlsfled from tae evldence before 1t that tbe damage to
“E BPY by gunflre at EllSBbetthlle Was minor and had been properly repalred

— e PRI i e e - - —— e R P

before the take off OL the alrcraft frrw Larﬂol’fllle on 17 eeptember

e - B 0 S O,
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ITI. THE CRASH OF SE-BDY

92. The present part of the report deals with the conditions and circumstances of
the flight and crash of SE-BDY and contains an analysis of possible causes. In
addition a reply is given to the questions asked by the General Assembly in

paragraph 3 (b) of resolution 1628 (XVI).

A. FLIGHT FRCM LEOPOLDVILLE TO NDOLA

95. As described in part II, the Secretary-General left Ndjili airport,
Leopoldville, at 1551 Zé/ aboard SE-BDY. For reasons of security it would appear
that complete radio silence was maintained while the aircraft was over Congolese
territory. So far as is known, SE-BDY first broke radio silence at 2002 Z when

it called Salisbury Flight Information Centre (FIC) and asked the estimated time

of arrival at Ndola of aircraft OO-RIC carrying Lord lLansdowne. At the request of
Salisbury FIC, SE-BDY then identified itself as a DC.6 bound from Leopoldville

to Ndola and estimated its time of arrival at Ndola as 2235 Z. Subsequently at
2035 Z it reported its position at a polnt over the southern end of lake Tanganyika.
ok. While the exact flight route of the aircraft up to that point is unknown,

it is assumed that it flew from Leopoldville in an easterly direction and on
reaching ILake Tanganyika took a southerly course informing Salisbury Flight
Information Centre that it was flying on Advisofy Route (ADR) 432, It continued to
skirt the Congolese border flying for that purpose slightly to the east of ADR L32
and approached Ndola from the east or soutnh-east. The operational team, including
a United Nations observer, which was established in connexion with the inquiry

by the Rnodesian Board of Investigation, reconstructed the probable flight route as
shown on the map in annex XIII. A description of the reconstruction of the probable
route will be found in part 3, section 11 of the report of the Bcard of
Investigation (annex II, paras. 11.1-11.3). See also report of the Rhodesian
Commission of Inquiry (annex III, para. 5).

95. In communications between SE-BDY and Salisbury FIC, SE-BDY was given OO-RIC's

estimated time of arrival at Ndola as 2017 Z, and later its actual time of arrival

7 indicates Greenwich Mean Time (GMT).

2/
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as 2035 Z. SE-BDY was cleared to descend from 17,500 to 16,000 feet and reported
reaching the latter flight level at 2115 Z. The aircraft alsc reported it wvas
keeping outside Congolese territory and proceeding round the border to land at

Ndola, that thereafter it was taking off almost 1Hmea1ately, was not returnlng to .
e ey e — e (}

Leopoldv1lle and was unable at that tlme to g1V€ 1ts dectlnatlon after departure

from Ndola. The pllot also estlmated that he would be abeam Ndola at 21&7 Z.

/t 2192 Z, Salisbury FIC transierred SE-BDY to Ndola Lir traffic Control.

96. A summary of relevant communications exchanged between Salisbury FIC and Ndola
tower and the aircraft O0O-RIC and SE-BDY is attached as annex VI A. There will
also be found in annex VI B and C transcriptions of tape recorded radio-telephone
conversations between SE-BDY and Salisbury FIC and between Salisbury and Ndola;

in annex VI D, the extracts from the air traffic control log of Ndola airport;

and in annex VI E a more complete list of communications between SE-BDY and Ndola
tower. This list was prepared late the following morning by Mr. Martin, the

air traffic controller who was in the tower at the time that SE-BLY approached
Ndola, partly from memory and partly from "flight progress strips" - notes recorded
at the time of the cowmunication. \

97. SE-BDY, on instructions from Salisbury Flight Information Centre, called Ndola
tover at 2135 2 and informed it of its estimate that it would be abeam Ndola

at 2147 7 and would arrive at 2220 7. The tower transmitted a weather report §iving
w1nd as seven knots from an east- south easterly direction, visibility as l
5 to lé%ﬁlles with sllght smoke haze, and the barometrlc settings for the altimeter
in order to obtain the altitude reading above sea level (QNH) and the altitude
reading above the airport (NFZ). The aircraft acknowledged the weather report and
requested clearance to descend beginning at 2157 Z. Clearance to descend to

6,000 feet was given and the aircraft was requested to report "top of descent".

To questions whether the aircraft would be proceeding to Salisbury or remaining
overnight in Ndola, SE-BDY replied in the negative. It declared itself unable to

give further information concerning its intentions after landing and stated that it

would give them on the ground. It also stated that it might require a little
refuelling at Ndola.
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B. ARRIVAL CVER NDCLA AIRPCET
98. The following conversation is reported to have occurred at 2210 Z:

"SE-BDY: ‘!Your lights in sight, overhead Ndola, descending, confirm ONH.'
(AD 200-317°). L/

"NDOLA: "Roger GNH 1021 mb, report reaching 6,000 feet.®

"SE-BDY: ‘'Roger 1021'."

This was the last communication w! s aircraft.

99. onm the 1nformatlon glven b “Martin, it appeereﬂthat
SE-BLY nerer reported _reaching. 6 éi&wzwit dlgwetate that
1t had Ndola lights in sight and cending. At the same
time it requested and received confirmation 0 e —_ ster setting (QNH).

120. It may be of scme interest to note the exchange of communlcatlons between

the hdola tower ard CO-RIC, descrlbed as follows by air trafflc controller Nartln-

——

ML cleared to descend to 6,000 feet on QNH from FL 75. The aircraft

was required to report reaching 6,000 feet. All this was acknowledged,

and in due course the aircraft reported 6ZOCO‘Teet "It was instructed to

mairtain that HETEHT and To report ND or 'lights in sight'. It reported
lighte in sight' and was given the wind direction and strength, and cleared

to er .r the traffic circuit for runway 10-..." -

101. It will be observed that CC-RIC, which was apprcaching from the west, after
reporting reaching 6,000 feet was asked tc report its arrival over the radio beacon

or "lights in sight". It reported "lights in sight” and was then given clearance

to enter the traffic circuit. The possibility was considered whether SE-BDY, in
e it e e e e e et

reporting "lights in sight', should have been understood as being at 6,000 feet
< T

over the airport. However plausible this interpretation may be, it does not seem to
et T T T e e
have been so urderstood by Mr. Martin, who states that his final words to the

aircraft at 1210 were "report reachlng 6, OOO feet

PSR

1C2. The aircraft was observed as it flew over Ndola by a number of persons at the

airport or in or near Ndola. The navigation lights were on and, while the

4/ The entry "AD 200-317°" indicates that the magnetic heading of Ndola from the

N aircraft, as shoun on the automatic direction finder (AD 200) in the Ndola
tower, was 317° {vagretic). It would appear that the aircraft was not actually

Y over the wirfield but was approaching the airfield from the south-east, as would

] be expected if it had flown round the Katanga pedicle.
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observations of all witnesses do not agree, it appears that the flashing red
anti-collision beacon on top of the tail fin was also operating. With the exceptlon

s e g e e <o

of one of the PRAF personnel stationed at the alrport who thought the plane

e

was approx1mately lO OOO feet above the allport all w1tnesses who actually saw the

aircraft pass over the fleld stated that it flew at normal height or slightly lower.
It will be noted that the normwal height according to the approved charts is

6,000 feet above sea level, or less than 2,0C0O feet above the airfield the elevation
of which is 4,160 feet. Cn the other hand, some witnesses living west of the
airfield stated their belief that the height of the aircraft was much lower than
usual. These witnesses did not actually see the plane but only heard it and their
conviction that it was flying at a low altitude was derived from the fact that it
sounded much louder than aircraft normally landing at Ndola. However, it would

seem that these witnesses were not aware that a TC.6 B is a much noisier plane than

those normally landing at Ndola.

C. ILANDING PROCEDURES AT NDOLA

103. The Federal Government of Rhcdesia and Nyasaland has approved an Instrument
Appreoach Procedure for aircraft landing at Ndola based on the use of a radio
beacon (Non-directional beacon - NDB) located approximately three miles west of the
airpcrt. This procedure is depicted on an ICAO standard Instrument Apprcach Chart
published by the Rhodesian authorities. It is also shown orn a chart

(see annex XIV A) in the Jeppesen Manual published by the Jeppesen Company of
Penver, Colorado, which is a lcose leaf fllght 1nfornatloc maoual approved por us
by Transair.

104. As the name implies, instrument apprcoach charts are primarily intended for use
in conditions of reduced visibility when it becomes necessary for the pilot to

rely on instruments instead of on visual reference. However, it has been

- R

stated that the standing instructions issued by Transair require pilots using an

alrfleld for the flrst tlme to make a complete instrument apprcach even when
— e
visibility and cloud height are unlimited.

e

A 105. In executlng an instrument apprcach for Ndola the aircraft flies west frcm /

Kdola on 2 heading of 280° to & point 1.25 rautical miles beyond the vadic beacon

(NDB), It then begins its "procedure turn'", altering course first to the right on

/..
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a north-westerly heading of 3250 and then turning gradually to the left until it is

aligned with the runway on an easterly heading of lOOO In accordance w1th the

Chart referred to above, the aircraft malntalns an, altltude of 6 OOO feet above

—_ el S

sea level (ASL) throughout this procedure turn Cn completlon of the turn it

o

beglns 1051ng helght in order to arrive 1nbound over the radio beacon (NDB) a

5,0C0 feet (ASL), after which a normal rate of descent ensures an accurate final
apprcach and landing.

1C6. It came to the Commission's attention, however, during some of its flights in

Rhcdesia that there are in use 1nstrument approach charts for Ndola whlch provide

e e e et 0 A AT s i it i S e PR - s

for a descent from 6, cCo to 5,000 feet durlng the procedure turn A pllot u51ng

A T e e AR e, e e e e . i A e T [
e e n S e o) e b | T —— = e

this descendlng'turn mlght well reach the level of 5 OOO feet whlle flylng over

i S .

i — e e

terrain hlgher than M 0[0)0] feet and thus reduce the safety margln to less than the

e At e, S

— e e e s et e e e s

1, 0co feet recommended in the ICAO Procedures for Air Nav1gatlon Serv1ces -

——— e e e e i e V——— e SR,

Aircraft Operatlons (Doc . 8168 - OPS/611) relating to NDB Instrument Approach.

There is, however, no evidence before the Comm1551on whether the crev of SE-BDY

ey

e e e s e et

e, IS

“had avallable, or in fact _knew of, charts authorizing a descendlng turn, whlle the

- e e

v chart 1n the Jeppesen Nanual as well as that published by the Rhodesian Clv1l

Av1atlon Authorltles, prov1deg;jgg'ma1nta1n1ng 6, 000 feet throughout the procedure

» e e i e -

m——

D. DESCRIFTION OF THE CRASH

107. After passing over the airfield, SE-BDY appears to have executed a turn over

the appropriate approach area and to have crashed near the end of the turn as

o TR e (e et e e ey

1t came back to an easterly headlng In fact, in all test fllghts conducted by

the Rhode81an Beoard of Investigation in which a procedure turn was made, the test

alrcraft flew over the crash 51te on approx1mately the same headlng (120 ) as

e T P e e e e

the Swath cut through the trees by SE BDY. The Rhode51an Beard of Investlgatlon

was satlslfled that oh BDY was carrylng out a procedure approach when it crashed
(see annex II, paras. 14.1-1L4.6; see also annex XIV C).

1C8. The time of the crash to the exact minute is difficult to fix. If one accepts
e e e PN mer e e,
as correct the tlme glven by Mr - Martin, that the aircraft was over the airfield

at 2210 7, then the time of the crash was prcbably about 2213 to 2215 Z. Cn the

[ T

other hand four watches which stopped within less than two mlnutes of each other

[ PR s et ORI . S
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gave a mean time of 2211 Z and there is scwe evidence that the alrcraft may. have !
paSEEé”Sﬁé} the alrfieidaa~%ewaﬁzzates egyller than reported in Nartln s log. 7,%%

In any event ‘the crash almost oertalnly occurred between 2210 Z and 2215 Z, or v o
W oo/
shortly after midnight Ndola time.

1C9. The spot where the aircraft struck is approx1mately nlne and a half miles west

T AR RS

of Ndola alrport The ground elevation at the point of impact was M 285 feet and

o

the helght of the tops of the first trees standing on slightly hlgher ground
which were brushed by the aircraft, was 4,357 feet. This is nearly 2CO feet hlgher

.

et - TP R

W
than the elevation of the Ndola alrport whlch 1s b, 160 feet There was also a

B

T e N i ey

rldge of higher ground lylng between the crash 31te“qu the airfield which mlght

- "= B S S

have obscured the view of the lights of Ndola immediately before the crash.

110. An examination of the crash site and of the aircraft wreckage appears to
establish beyond all doubt that, except for its altitude, the aircraft was in a
normal approach position at the time of the crash. The description in the
following paragraphs {(paras. 111-114) is based on the opinion of experts who
participated in the work of the Rhcdesian Bcard of Investigation and who testified
before this Commission.

111. The landing wheels were lowered and lccked, flaps were in an intermediate (500)
position proper for that stage of the apprcach. Engines appear to have been
operating under normal apprcach power. There were no signs of excessive speed.
Moreover, several experts stated that experience had shown that hed the aircraft
speed at this time been excessive, the nose-wheel housing would almost certainly
have become detached from the fuselage before contact with the trees. 5/ This,

however, had not occurred. The seat belts of at least six of the persouns aboard

5/ The Swedish Government, however, comments as follows:

"The (Rhodesian) Commission of Inguiry states that the nose wheel doors

should have been detached in the air, should there have been great speed, as

for instance after a diving movement of the aircraft prior to the impact. The
fact that this did not happen indicates in the opinion of the Federal

Commission that there had not been any considerable dive towards the grounds,
followed by a flattening out. We would like to p01nt out, however, that 1
the landing gear was in a loweréd position and that the dlve, if any, could {
”ﬁBﬁaﬁeaﬁ““ioss OT_He*"HE7ﬁ?3EE€_fE§E”a few OULATed yards * o \
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vere fastened; the position of others could not be determined. The landing lights
were not extended but testimony was given to the effect that they would not
necessarily be turned on at that stage of an approach.

112, The aircraft was either in level flight or at a very shallow angle (to the
order of perhaps one degree) when it first brushed the tree-tops and there were
indications that, at this moment, the aircraft was banked slightly to the left,
/.fter the initial contact with the three-tops, the angle of descent and the amount

of left bank increased. The aungle from the point of first contact to the site

of the crash averaged 5°. The first indication of contact was branches severed by
il

e e et e

the propellers and traces of rubber from m the propeller de-icing boots. Almost

o e T o e - - SR

inmediately thereafter the left wing tlp was ripped avay and the left wing was
e e e et g T T T

S — R

progre551vely demollshed nearly to the number 1 engine as it tore through
.-_,,_»'—\

the trees at an 1ncre351ng angle of bank. At about 760 feet from the p01nt where

e e T YR ot e
U U e e et — - = s e et e e e

the alrcraft first touched the trees, the s sTub of “the left w1ng struck the ground

e i
e

e e e e

in front of a 12 foot high ant- hl;l. The aircraft cart-wheeled to the left

e S e e e At S

et ™ e

comidévtedtestmfac1ng the direction from whlch it had core, The nose cone was
e e B e
broken off and found intact on the ant-hill. The interval from flrst contact with

"-;\..._ e o e — e ———

the trees to final crash could not have been more than a few seconds.

S SN

e
115, At the tlme of the crash SE -BDY must have had nearly 5 tons of fuel remalnlng

e ey A i e

— i Bk Lo e s —

in 1ts tanks. Petrol from the demollshed left wing had been Spllled over the last

—

—— s e

jOO to 5)0 ‘feet OF the wreckage trail. The fuel from the right wing, which was

¢ ey 2 e N e, e e . e e A e e e P

oroken as it descended through the trees at the completion of the cart-wheel, must
—— T e [ G, WREEEEENSINSSNS

have ooured over tne maln wreckage. The fire which ensued engulfed the wrecka@e

et e ——— e f—~

and Lloehed back along the Detfc1 trall Tne 1n+ense heat destroyed or melted

s e e e e e

7' to 80 per cent of the fusclaﬁe and eAploded the anmunltlon and pyrotechnlcs

B — e e e AT T——— T i

carrled on board the aerTaLt.

e ——— st £ e =

114, There was no sign of scorching of the tree tops or other indication of fire

in flight and & search, conducted for the Rhodesian Board of Investigation, of
the area which the aircraft presumably traversed immediately prior to the crash
revealed no parts of the aircrait prior to contact with the trees.

115, 4 plan of the wreckage prepared by the Rhodesian Board of Investigation is
contained in annex XV. Pictures of the crash site and of the wreckage are
predueed in annex XVI. £ summary of a report on the technical examination of
the wrecrage prepared by the Rhodesian Board of Tiveshigation will be found in

6/

annex II, section 10, and particularly in paragraphs 10.5.1 to 10.3.l12.

o/ The full technical report is on file with the Secretariat and may be consulted
by interested delegations on request. Joos
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E. MEDICAL INFORMATICH

116. On the basis of the testimony of the Rhcdesian police officers who first

reached the crash site, it would appear that at the mcment of 1mpact the secretary-

PSS R e e s e+ oe

General was. thrown clear of the alrcraft falling outs1de the area subsequently
e - e e e "‘-s

———

covered by fire. The Rhodes1an medical report of Drs. H.D. Ross, P.J. otevens

and J. Hillsdon Smltn (see annex VII A) concluded that the Secretary General had

T i ey gt

dled 1nstantly from injuries resulting from his fall. Cn the other hand on

e e T et e A e

the basis of a study of the Rhodesian medical report made at the request of the

SN e e e T S T T T T S e - ——
1ed1cal Board of GSweden, Drs. A Frykholm and N. Ringertz expressed the opinion
IR S, — e -

that if Mr. Hammarskjold had been rescued immediately after the accident and

had 1mmed1ately received medical treatment with the most modern equipment, the

— e
survival pericd might have been somewhat lengthened. In other respects the Iwedish

SR B

report concurred in the findings of the Fhodesian medical report (see annex VII B).

117. Sgt. Julien was found alive outside the charred area. He had been burned

Pt o e TR P e et

by fire and had suffered further from exposure and sunburn in the course of the

l6 hours that he remained at the crash site. He received first-aid treatment from

the police who arrived at the scene of the crash and was taken to Ndola hospital

at about 16.45 local time Tespite constant medical attention he dled at C8. OC

—— e U U rmmt B T U Tha AN ——

on the morning of 21 Sentember l96l Dr. N chab, who headed the team of doctors

e s e e A i T e e

looking after Sgt. Julien, stated that if he had been rescued earlier in the

B et e £ e, © et A e a4 TP S 0 ST TS T mremem T

morning and had not suffered the heat of the sun all day.he would have had a better

——— e

chance of surv1v1ng Dr. Lowenthal who also saw Sgt Jullen lmmedlately after

his admission to the hospltal testlfled that his chances of survival wculd

o

have been 1nf1n1tely better

-~ e o e e e i e —

118. The others aboard the ailrcraft are believed to have dled within seconds after

———n e v - e e [

the crash. Some had suffered injuries which would have precluded surv1val even

m—r—

had no fire ensued, others were considered.- to have died suddently from shock.

119. Bullets were found in the bedies of the two Swedish soldiers. At the cutset
of the Rhcdesian Investigation some doubt was expressed whether this could be
explained by the explosion of cartridges set off by the fire. However, the\bullets
were relatively superficially sited below the skin and in the muscle, ard

fragments of explcded shell cases were found in the same wounds. Rallistic

examination showed that they bore no rifling marks and had not passed through the

;
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barrel of a gun. They were also of the same calibre as the ammunition carried by
the soldiers themselves. It was consequently accepted by all experts consulted
that the presence of the bullets was in fact the result of cartridges in close
contact with the bcdies exploding during the fire.

12C. Cne body was not found until the second day when parts of the wreckage were
moved. The absence at first of information concerning the total number of persons
aboard undoubtedly contributed to the difficulty of ascertaining that all bcdies
had been found. The Commission is satisfied that a proper identification was made

of the sixteen persons abcard the aircraft.

F. POSSIBLE CAUSES

121. In the case of the crash of an aircraft where there are no survivors and where
the greater part of the wreckage is destroyed by fire, difficulties may be
encountered in determining the cause of the crash. Various theories have been
advanced with or without supporting evidence and different conclusions have been
regached. Scme have been based only on rumour. The Commission considered it among
its duties to examine these theories and rumours and to provide the true facts
wherever possible. Possible causes of the crash will be considered under four main
headings: (1) Sabotage or internal interference; (2) Attack or external
interference; \3) Material failure; and \4) Human failure.

122. Eeunsel for the govermments represented before the Commission have argued _the

questlon whether the Ccmm1551on shculd regq;rewlnHeachﬁcase_prQQf beyopd“;e@sggggle

doubt or should ‘reach its conclu51ons on the preponderance of evidence or the

JUSDE—

balanee of _probabilities. The Commission, while accepting that it is not required

in expree51ng an opinion to limit itself to the rules of evidence of any

P, ——— T

partlcular legal system in respect to a particular class of cases, believes that it

should apply generally the standard of proof required in the search for truth.

Thls standard w1ll beﬁﬁpp;ied equally to all of the possible causes considered by

- — e

the Comm1551on

1. Sabotage or internal interference

123. As no special guard was provided for SE-BDY prior to its departure from

Leopoldville, the possibility of an unauthorized approach to the aircraft for

4
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purposes of sabotage cannot be excluded. DMoreover, although the doors were said to
have been locked, access was possible to the hydraulic compartment, the heating
system, and the undercarriage of the aircraft.

124. Cne possible means of sabotage could be interference with one or more of the
aircraft's vital parts, such as the cables operating the control surfaces or the
flap or undercarriage mechanism, in order to render these parts inoperative at

the time of approach or landing. There is however, no evidence before the
Commission of such interference. The technical examination of the vital parts which
had not been destroyed by impact or fire revealed no pre-crash damage. Furthermore,
the aircraft had been properly trimmed for an approach and the crash path did

not indicate any abnormality in manceuvrability or control such as might have been
expected if sabotage of this type had occurred.

125. A second possibility which seems most unlikely in the present case is the use
of a time bcmb. A potential saboteur would scarcely have anticipated that the
aircraft would take a route requiring cver six hours instead of the direct route
requiring only four or five hours flight. Likewise 1t would have been difficult

to guess the exact time of departure.

126. The possibility might also be considered of an infernal machine, the
activation of which was linked to the mechanism operating the undercarriage or wing
flaps so as to explode when these were set for landing, to a barometric instrument

e MR e
operating when the aircraft descended to a pre-set altitude, or to some other

N

scieitific device. The installation of bombs of this order would require special
skill while considerable time would be needed for their manufacture.

127. While the detonation of a bomb at the time of landing is not impossible, the
Commission must repeat that there is no evidence of a bomb having exploded abcard

the aircraft, or.in fact of any explosion having occurred while the aircraft

was in flight. Specifically, technical examination established that there were no
traces of an exploding bomb on the undercarriage or in the vicinity of its housing,

or in any other parts of the aircraft which were examined. As described earlier in
this report, further scientific experiments are being carried out on the wreckage

at the request of the Ccmmission in order to leave no possibility of proving or )

7/ /

disproving sabotage unexplored.

7/ The results of these experiments will be found in annex XII.
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12¢ . here is no ccunvincing evidence that any Jitness heard or saw an explosion
before the crash. Certain witnesses testified to explosions at the approximate

time of the crash, but in all probability these were explcding fuel tanks and
subsegquent discharpe of ammunition and pyrotechnics carried on beard the aircraft.

A member of the _erthezn Rbcoes1an Pollce reported that at OBHO Z he saw an

explcding light Lﬂ tme sky and an obJect dropplng 1mmed1ately tﬁereafter This was

e e v T P 4= -~ v e
aBprox1mately an hour ana 2 half after the crash and what was seen may bave been

[
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the discharge cf one or more of the pyrotechnlc slgnalllng cartrldges carrled

by SL BDY or, as varlously suggested by the Rhcdesian Commission of Inqulry, a

—

bursting gas container, oxygen cylinder or scme Other part of the wreckage blown

T S i i e - ke

into the sky durlng the Tire tsee annex I1I).

et P
v

129. Several witnesses testified that Sgt Julien spoke of an explosion. According

to Dr. Lowenthal, he first said there was a crash and then an explosion and later
sald there was an explosion and then a crash. According to Nurse McGrath, he said
there was an explosicn when the aircraft was on the runway. Senior Inspector Allen
made the following statement to the Rhodesian Beard of Investigation regarding

his conversation with Sgt. Julien ard confirmed it before the United Nations

Commission:

"I told him that we had last heard of you over the runway at Ndola airport

{ and we didn't hear anything more: 'What happened?’ He said: 'It blew up'
| T said: ‘'Was this over the runway?' and he said: ‘'Yes'. I said: 'What
i happened then?' and he replied: ‘'There was great speed - great speed'."

15C. Sgt. Julien's reference to an explosion may relate either to the shock and
sound of the left wing being torn off as it struck the first tree, or to the

explosion of the fuel tanks at the time of impact. The idea that thls occurred

over the runway seems tO have been inadvertently suggested to him by

e e e e ot et o 8 e P

senior Tnspector Allen and in his state of shock and sedation, this probably has

— e e e — ——

oo significance. It 1s ooss1ble that the reference to great speed reflected the

sensation of the alrcraft pa551ng through the trees, as suggested by the Rhcaeslan

Comn1551on of Inqulﬂy (see annex III part lO section A 2)

lzl It nust also be noted that several witnesses who saw SE-BLY fly over the

PR

alrfleld and disappear in a west or north-westerly direction reported seeing a flash
——— e — ————n

e

1u tbe shy at times varying from 20 _seconds to 4 or more minutes thereafter.

Ihe Swedish observers at the Rhodesian Beard of Investigation, notlng thls

ISR T
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discrepancy in time, suggested that the possibility should be examined whether there \

- e

had been two flashes, “one of them while the aircraft vas still in the air Hoyever,
N R IR g i
when test flights were made with the Witnesses obserVing the aircraft from

- ey e vt

pos1tions which they had occupied on the night of the disaster, one of these

Witnesses, Nr Peover, realized that from the fourth storey balcony of his

SN ——

apartment building he must have seen SE-BDY through most of its procedure turn.

i VU N

He concluded that it had disaopeared from his vision only a few ceconds before thc

W e .
actual crash. Scme of the other witnesses who had made their observations from

Ty

the ground would have lost Sight of the aircraft several minutes earlier.

ﬁiscrepanCies in the times given by other ObLSEYvVErs™ nay possibly be explained oy !

SR

their relative field of vision according to the nearness or remoteness of the tree

line. ;

———.

132. As another possibility of internal interference the Commission notes the

PESERISEERE AR S .y JRSSEE U

sensational story carried in several newspapers in some countries during
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January 1962 to the effect that a seventeenth man boarded the aircraft at

T e e e e et e o et =P

LeopoidVille for the ] purpose of hidacking it. The story speculated trat the crash

occurred when this man tried to take over the aircraft from the pilot while
A e e

—— e — e 2 = e S 3 e s vt —
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this story falls clearly in the category of rumour, the CommisSion carefully
i

e e i

investigated whether or not it was true. Dr. Linner and others who saw the plane

‘___.__w_ﬂ,_i s e o A T o i 4.2 2 e s e
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persons who went aboard. Moreover, Dr. Ross considered the poss1bility of there_

 m——————— e et e £ ma ¢ e = 2t ey o e A £

e
police, who did not know _how meany persons were abcard examined the scene of the
W#—‘Hm T s et
crash in order to discover 1f anyone had wandered into the bush but found no
I _‘-___..._...-.-— ) )

trace of this.

- s e

2. Attack or external interference

133. The CommiVSicn has carefully examined the pOSSibility of SE-BDY having been

I - — e |

shot down by anotner aircraft or by attack irom the ground It has =aiso considered

e e oy

‘the possibility that the crash may have resulted frcm evasive action) or from

o e s e e e

———

momentary distraction of the pilot by an attack or feigned attack from the air or

e e i A

from the ground. The CommiSSion has found no evidence to support such a -

hypothesis.

© e T
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134. The Commission received testimony frcm experienced Air Force officers of the
great difficulties attached to the successful shooting down of an aircraft at
night, particularly where the aircraft route and time of arrival are uncertain.
With respect to the latter points, however, it is noted that aircraft landing

R — e e

at Ndola frequently pass close to the crash site and that the approach “of SE-BDY

e e e et s e et e B e

to Ta6la was disclosed approx1mately two hours before its arrlval and estimated

e 3 e — . 1 - S,

tlmes of arrival were given in communications to Sallsbury FIC and to hdola tower

et m o e

Wthh could be readlly 1ntercepted by any 1nterested person. The possibility

e e S S e e e e e rrmt .

cannot, therefore, be ruled out completely

e r— e e
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135. The possibility of other aircraft being in the area of Ndola at the time of
the crash was examined. Since the "Fouga Magister”" of the Katangese Armed Forces
had been operating against the United Nations in Katanga, the possibility of

its reaching Ndola was examined by the Rhodesian Board of Investigation and the
Rhodesian Commission of Inquiry. It was established that it could not have made
the flight from its normal base at Kolwezi to Ndola and returned to Kolwezi

since the distance is greater than its operational range. It was also stated

by its captain and others that the "Fouga" was on the ground at Kolwezi the night
of 17/18 September and could not have operated that night. Thls ev1dence is not

entlrely conclu51ve 51hce the captaln admltted before the Rhcde81an Commission

of Inqulry that on at least one ‘occgsion the "Fouga" had taken off from an unpaved

BRI, S e A e P

track ' Whlle this partlcular track was sald to be at an even greater distance
*f;om Ndola, nothing would appear to preclude the use of a track within range of
Ndola. Nevertheless, there is no evidence that the "Fouga" was in the vicinity of
Ndoia on the night of the crash.

136. The Rhodesian authorities have stated that they have no knowledge of any
alrcraft other than SE-BDY being in the air in the Ndola region between 2035 2,
when CO-RIC landed, and the time that SE-BDY is presumed to have crashed. The

Ccmmission has, however, been informed that no radar watch was malntalned 1n the

| S—

Ndola area during the evening and night of 17 September 1961 and, therefore,

e ey e

the possibility of an "unknown aircraft" cannot be entirely excluded.

R

—
137. Certain w1tnesses testified that they saw or heard a second, or even third,
Sprmes e . PN pST——ry o 4

plane In partlcular, some of them testlfled that they saw a second smaller

aircraft flying close to SE-BLY after it had passed over the airport or immediately

/...
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before the crash and that the smaller aircraft was beaming lights on the larger.
The Ccmmission visited with scme of these witnesses the spots from which their
Observations had been made and endeavoured to obtain an understanding of their
testimony. The Ccmm1ss1on cons1ders that several of these witnesses were sincere
in their accgnnts of what they belleved they sawv. The Comm1ss1on is also of the
oplnlon, however, that these witnesses may have misinterpreted their observations
and reported some incidents which nmay not in fact have occurred in the way or

at the time that they believed when they testified before the Commission.

138. The Ccrmission notes that SE-BDY, a DC.6 B, is a larger aircraft than normeilw
seen in the Ndola area and was equipped with a red flashing anti-collision beacon
located on an nnusually high tail fin. It seems possible that the "smaller plane"
may in fact have been the tail assembly of SE-BDY whose flashing beacon nould

have given different impressions depending on the angle of vision. This possibility
is supported by witnesses' testimony that the smaller plane flew above and behind
the larger plane at a fairly steady interval.

139. This theory does not explaln all aspects of their testlmony, particularly the

statement of some of these w1tnesses that the small plane rlew away after the

crash. It is possible, considering the tlme lapse between the crash and thelr

et [

testlmony, that some of the witnesses may have believed that they saw or heard

el

phenomena which, in fact, they did not, or have compressed into a single day ‘

o ——

f
|
observations of events occurring over a longer period. Other w1tnesses showed {

strong antl Federatlon feellngs and it is probable that same of thelr testimony

was given for_polltlcal motives. A more detailed presentatlon of the statements of

T VRS S S

some of these witnesses is contained in annex VIII.

140. With the foregoing exceptions none of the witnesses who observed SE-BDY as it
flew over the airfielu and disappeared frcm sight saw another aircraft, and no

one reported hearing the sound of gun-fire before the crash.

141. The Commission also considered the possibility of an attack from the ground.
It was observed that there were clearings which could have afforded a field of
fire. On the other hand, an attack with prospects of success would, in the

opinion of experts, have required a concentration of fire and there was no evidence

direct or indirect, to suggest that this had taken place. No strangers vere

reported to have been in the bush, nor, as noted above, was any sound of gun-fire

heard before the crash
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142, hen the wreckage was Tirst examined several holes were noted which it was
thought might have been bullet holes. Closer examination established to the
satisfaction of all experts that this was not the case, with the possible exception

of a hole in the right hand window frame of the cockpit. At the suggestlon of

et ey

the Swedish representatlve; the Bhodesian Commission of Inqulry orderegﬂz

epectrographlc examlnatlon This examination, the United Natlons Commission was

S e .

e e g

1nforned establlshed to the satisfaction of the Swedish experts that the hole

haq_net been made by a bullet. §/
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14%. Mr. Virving, a Transair official, put before the Commission a theory that

S4-BDY might have been attacked and shot down by a plane armed with rockets.

This theory was based in part on an analy51s of the statements of various w1tnesses

coneernrng thelr observations of planes and of flashes in the sky No substantial

S e s e s T e e+ e

evidence was submltted in support of this theory and the Commission is of the

opinion trat most of the phenomena referred to by M} V}rz}ngwerewenseegﬁéble

of cther and more loglcal explanatlons The Commission aiso consulted rocket

S

.exnezts w1th ONUC who expressed con51derable doubt concerning the possibility of

such an attack. Finally, as already noted, no 51gns of a pre- crash ex91051on

enin 9/
or traces of a rocket were found in the wreckage

x\ TP

1hly. The Comm1s51on also noted'ﬁhe oplnlon of experts that, had the aircraft been

shot down, its descent might have been expected to have been at a steeper angle
than that indicated by the path of the crash. Had 3E-BDY been attacked and
evasive action attempted, the norral reaction of the pilot, if time permitted,
vould have been to retract the undercarriage and flaps and to apply full engine

power. lone of these measures was taken.

3. cuterial faillure

(a) Technical or structural defect

145. There is no evidence whatever to suggest that the crash of SE~BDY may have
teen caused by technical or structural defect in the aircraft or its engines.

Iv the opinion of technical experts the aircraft was trimmed, and the engines and

See also annex XII, section 3.2.

&
9

zee also the results of the experiments in annex XII.
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propellors appropriately set, for a zormal approach to the runway. Such 1s unlikely
to have been the case had there been any defect, failure or malfunctioning of

apy important ccmponent. Since the state of the wreckage did not permit a full
examination this possiblity cannot be completely cxcluded, but it appears unlikely

for the reasons stated.

{(r) Altimeter failure

146. An examination of the altimeters by the United States Civil Aeronautics Board
and the Kollsman Instrument Corporaticn, the marufacturers, did not reveal any
defects existing befcre the crash (see annex IX). TFach altimeter also had the
correct barcmetric setting as given by the Ndola control tower.

1L7. Cne altimeter, when found after the crash, was disconnected frcm its static
supply. The effect of such disconnexion wculd be for the altimeter to show an
altitude based on the pressure inside the aircraft instead of on the outside
pressure. Normally the result would be an indication of an altitude lower than
true, and the consequent reaction of the pilot would be to galin height. Vhen at
high altitude the cabin pressure of SE-FEDY was said to be maintained at a pressure
equivalent of 6,CCO feet. However, on descent the pressure should autcomatically
increase and at no time should it te less than the pressure outside the aircraft.
148. Tisconnexion could have occurred as a result of the impact. Had it occurred
in flight the captein should have had an instant warning since his rate-of-climb
indicator, connected to the same static supply, would also have been affected.
Ihe.captain‘s and co-pllot's altimeters in Sk-EDY were provided with separate
static supplies and consequently any disconnexion or leakage should also have

been revealed by discrepancies in the readings of the altimeters.

(c) Fire in flight

149. There has been no evidence before the Ccmmission of any fire abcard the
alrcraft before it struck the ground. The experts who examined the crash site
reported no scorching of the tree-tops and no horizontal streaks on the parts of
the ailrcraft examined which would indicate a fire in fligh®t. Two hand fire

extinguishers were found in a discharged condition and the Commission reguested

their examinaticn in an attempt to determine whether they had been manuvally
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operated during flight or discharged by heat or other causes after the crash.

The results of the dismantling and examination were inconclusive but it was noted
that at least one of the fire extinguishers had still been attached to the
bulkhead of the aircraft at the time of the crash. It was therefore unlikely that
it had been used in flight. Moreover, it is believed that had there been a fire,
traces of remedial action by the pilot such as emergency decompression of the
cabin would have been found. From the evidence it appeared that no such action had
taken place.

15C. Finally, there was no evidence of carbon monoxide poisoning and the traces of
carbonxyhaemoglobin found in a few bodies could readily be accounted for either
by cigarettes or by a few seconds survival after the fire had started. While the
possibility of fire in flight cannot be completely excluded, there is no evidence

of any kind to support it.

L. Human failure

(a) Incapacitation of pilots

151. The theory was advanced that one or more of the pilots became suddenly
incapacitated. The Commission did not receive any evidence to support this
hypothesis. The Commission notes that there is no evidence in the medical reports
that any of the pilots had been unable, for physical reasons, to perform his
duties. However, since all forms of incapacity would not necessarily be revealed
by a post-mortem examination, this possibility cannot be excluded.
152. The Commission is also satisfied that the accident was not due to pilot
fatigue. In this connexion the following is noted:

(a) The total flying time from Leopoldville to Ndola was only 6 hours and

50 minutes;

(b) There were three experienced pilots on board, at least one of whom had

had 24 hours rest;

(c) There was sleeping accommodation on bcard for the pilots;

(1) There was an autoratic pilot;

(e) Navigation by dead-reckoning in these parts of Africa did not present

particular problems under the circumstances, and should not cause exceptional

fatigue.
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(b) Use of wrong instrument landing chart

153. Considerable attention was given in the proceedings before both the Rhcdesian
Bcard of Investigation and the Rhcdesian Commission of Inquiry to the possibility
of confusion between Ndcla in Northern Rhodesia, with an elevation of 4,160 feet
above sea level, and Ndolo, a swall aerodrome with an elevation of 951 feet

above sea level, close to Leopoldville (see annex II, para. 6.4.2 and annex III,

part 10, section B.5; see also charts in annex XIV A and B). In the wreckage

—

of SE-BDY, copies were found of a US A1r Force fllght 1nformatlon manual contalnlng

an 1nstrument landlng chart for Wdolo but none_for Ndola o January 1962

T e AT R N R

a member of the Rhode51an Board of Investlgatlon noted that 1n cne of these

ranuals the altltude of hdola (h 160 feet) was written in green ink on the Ndolo

e TEREE T T e e e

landlng chart JIt was eventually establlshed that the handwrltlng was not that

e msair 1 e A A e

of any of the pllots aboard SE BDY

154. The poss1b111ty of confus1on between the two airports appears to the

Commission to be remote. The apprcach procedure for Ndolo 1s to the east of the
airport and that for Ndola is to the west. The aircraft was apparently following,
at least generally, approach procedure for Ndola at the time of the crash. There
are prominent topographic features such as the Congo river on the Ndolo Chart
which would be difficult to overlook. Moreover, Captain Hallonguist is reported
to have discussed with others the similarity in the names of Ndocla and Ndolo, and
the fact that the altitude of Ndola was very close to that of Elisabethville in
Katanga with which he was thoroughly familiar. Finally, there is no reason to
believe that Captain Hallongquist was not using the Ndcla chart frcm the Jeppesen
Manual which was aboard the aircraft and was normally used by Transalr pilots.
The page containing the Ndola landing chart was missing from the copy of the
Jeppesen Manual which was found in the wreckage. It is believed that the pilot,
as 1s customary, removed the page, for use in landing, from this loose-leaf
publication and clipped it next to him in the cockpit where it burned during the
fire. Thus the absence of this page is a strong indication that it was in fact

being used.

(c) Misreading of altimeters

155. The Commission examined the question of whether the crash could have resulted

from a misreading of altimeters by the pilots. It noted several accident reports
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in which experienced pilots had misread their altimeters. The mosi common mistake
appears to be a misreading of 10,CC0 feet, due to the small size of the

10,000 foot pointer. The manufacturer of the altlmeters used cn S5E-BLY have changed
this pointer in their newer instruments to nake 1t more e551¢y readdble it

w—-ﬁ_.//“‘w“\"""—/‘"’“m _____ R
seems unlikely in the present C&Q\ however, that a mlsuake of lQ,,\D feet could

have been nade lmmediately after ﬂlylng cver a well-1it airfield. The pessibility

{
was also suggested by a memober of the Rhodesian Beard cf Investigation that
the pilot might have misread 4,600 feet for © 6 4&0 However, a mistake would have
T e e e e e i e bt
to be repeated several times and no explanation was offered of how he might have
descended to that particular height without ncting the altitude. Although on the

one hand there is no evidence to support this particular hypothesis, on the other

—_—
nand the possibility of some misreading of the altlmeter cannot be completely
e P s e s e T S e T T e . -—-—"‘-\/
excluded.
T —

(d) Distraction of the pilot's attention

156. If the pilot had for scme reason descended to 5,00C feet in the course of his
procedure turn, as is permitted in some instrument landing charts for Ndola

(see pafan 106 above ), or in a2 visual or semi-visual apprcach, his margin of safety
over the ash site could have been reduced to less than 650 feet. :;Efmi

possible that some mementary ilstractlon elther from 1n81de or from outside the

-‘--\ e i o T S T T e e e g e e T T - "'—“‘—’\
alrcraft durlng the prec1se lylng needed Lor hlS L“Ocedare turn, may have caused
g g o e = = T ———— T TT—————
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hlm +o lOSL the remalnder of this rathev narrow margln It would be extremely
SoT T
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di T lt c1ther EO prove or to dlgpr0ve thlu hypoth681s as a poss1ble cause 0of the
acc ia B — T *
’(e) Misleading or incomplete information provided to the pilot of SE-BDY A

157. It way be noted that ICAO specificaticns for Instrument Approach Charts

{Arnex 4 to the Convention on International Civil Aviation) require deplction of
topcgravhical information pertinent to the safe execution of the instrument

avproach and provide that "relief shall be shown in the manner best suited to

the particular elevation characteristics of the area". Consequently it is customary

for States to include terrsin contours and spot heights wherever pertinent.

Instrument approach charts for Ndola indicate significant spot heights in the .
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vicinity of the aercdrcme. In the ares of the procedure turn and in the apprcach

area there are neither spot heights of elevations nor terrain contours. ,Nor
Pl

do the profiles cu some charts adequately represent the elevation. If for some

— - ——m /\__'W
reason the pilot had desceﬁagahEB*S,OOO feet he might not have been aware that

his margin of sarety over the terrain was so small. The possibility cannot,
therefore, be completely excluded that the disaster may have resulted indirectly
from incomplete informetion supplied to the pilot for use at this most Critica%J

w——-———
phase of his flight tc Ndola.

PR

G. RGPLY TC THE CUESTION ASKED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY IN
PARAGRAPH 3 (b) OF RESOIUTION 1628 (XVI)

158. Paragraph 3 (b) of resolution 1628 (XVI) reads:

"Why its lfhe Secretary-General's aircraft's/ arrival at Ndcla was unduly
delayed, as reported?”
159. Except for the fact that the departure from ILeopoldvilie, as described in
part II, was for several reasons delayed until late on the afternoon of
17 September, and that the aircraft took a less direct route requiring an additional
hour and a half to two hours and a half of flight, there does not appear to have
been any delay in its arrival over Ndela. In fact the aircraft arrived over
the airfield some minutes before its latest estimated time of arrival. As will be
noted in the following part of the report, when the aircraft disappeared,
speculation arose that it might have delayed its landing or flown off elsewhere.

Instead it had crashed during what must have been i1ts 2oproach to the airfield with

the intention of landing.
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IV. THE SEARCH AND RESCUE ACTICN

160. This chapter briefly reviews the relevant regulations which were in force in
the Salisbury flight information region at the time of the crash, gives a
chronological account of the search and rescue action undertaken after the
disappearance of SE-BDY, analyses that action, and sets forth the Commission's
replies to the questions asked by the General Assembly in paragraph 3 (c) of
resolution 1628 (XVI).

A. REGULATIONS GOVERNING SEARCH AND RESCUE ACTION IN THE
SALISBURY FLIGHT INFORMATION REGION

161. The regulations governing search and rescue action which were in force in the
Salisbury flight information region at the time of the crash were issued on
6 Qctober 1959 by the Federal Department of Civil Aviation, under the title
"Procedures for Search and Rescue Action within the Salisbury Search and Rescue
Area". The regulations specify that they were adopted "in compliance with and
amplification of" the relevant ICAC Standards and Zecommended Practices. (Annex 12
to the Convention on International Civil Aviatibn). The full text of these
regulations, minus the appendices, is attached to this report as annex X. It was
submitted by the Rhodesian authorities to the Federal Commission of Inquiry as
exhibit l6.£9/
162. The regulations provide for the establishment of a kescue Co-ordination
Centre (RCC) "for the express purpose of initiating, co-ordinating and terminating
search and rescue action". When an emergency arises, the Centre becomes N
operational at the FIC of Salisbury. Pending its activation, search and rescue
operations are the responsibility of the Senior Air Traffic Control Officer on duty ’
at Salisbury. The Centre is manned by the personnel on duty at the FIC at the

time of the emergency.

lg/ The Commission also considered the special instructions issued for Ndola
Airport by the Federal Lepartment of Civil Aviation under the title "Crash and
Alerting Procedures". It found, however, that these instructions had no ”
particular relevance to the matters dealt with in the present part of the
report.
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163. The action to be taken in an emergency is divided into "uncertainty", "alert"
and "distress" phases, bearing the code names INCERFA, ALERFA and DETRESFA,
respectively. FParagraphs 8 to 10 of the regulations define the conditions under
which each of these three phases is considered to exist. The provisions of these
paragraphs which appear to be relevant to the emergency arising from the loss of

radio contact with SE-EDY after 2210 on 17 September 1961 are as follows:

"8. Uncertainty phase. An uncertainty phase is considered to exist when:

(b) an aircraft fails to arrive within thirty (30) minutes of the
estimated time of arrival last notified or estimated by air traffic
contrcl service units, whichever is the later;

except when no doubt exists as to the safety of the aircraft and its occupants.
"9. Alert phase. An alert phase 1s considered to exist when:

(a) following the uncertainty phase, subsequent communication checks
have failed to reveal any news of the aircraft; or when

(b) an aircraft has been cleared to land and fails to land within five
minutes of the estimated time of landing and communication has not been
re-established with the aircraft;

except when there is reasocnable certainty that the aircraft and its occurants
are not threatened by grave and imminent danger and do not require immediate
assistance.

’ "10. Distress phase. A distress phase is considered to exist when:

(a) following the alert phase the absence of news from wide-spread
g communication checks in the circumstances points to the probability
that the aircraft is in distress;

except when there is reasonable certainty that the aircraft and its occupants
are not threatened by grave and imminent danger and do not require immediate
assistance.”

[oos
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164, As regards air search, paragraph 11 of the regulations states that the Royal
Rhodesian Alr Force "has agreed to provide so Tar as possible such aircraft as are
required for search purposes whenever this beccmes necessary”. These aircraft are
placed under the control of the Civil Aviation Authority, and raragraph 15 of the
regulations specifiies that during the uncertainty phase the Department of Civil
Aviztion shall appoint a senior cfficer of the Department to serve as Civil Air
Search Officer (CASC). Paragraph 20 provides that "when the conditions detailed
at para. 10 exist" - in other words, when the distress phase comes into being -
"the Rescue (Cc-ordination Centre will notify the Royal Rhodesian Air Force and
request that they ccmmence search". |
165. The regulations also provide that the Rescue Co-crdination Centre "will
request the police or any other local authorities to co-cperate by organizing

"

ground search parties as circumstances require ... (para. 29).

B. CHRCNOLCGICAIL ACCCUNT OF THE SEARCH AND RESCUE ACTICN TAKEN
AFTER THE DISAFPPEARANCE CF SE-RDY
166. It will be recalled that all contact with SE-BDY was lost after the aircraft
had acknowledged at 2210% cn 17 September a signal frcwm the Ndola Control Tower
instructing it to repcrt "resaching 6,CC0 feei" and confirming the QNH barometric
pressure setting for the altimeter.
167. The loss of contact with ¢F=RUY led to thne initiation of a search and rescue

operation which is summarized chronologically in the following raragraphs. Since

the amcunt of daylight available 1s an Iumportant factor 1o any such operation, all
time. indicated are local or "B time, vhich is two hours zshead of "zZ". First .

light at Ndola on 18 September 1961 was at 0538B, and sunrise was twenty minutes
later.

1€8. Shortly after the lces ¢f ccrtact at COLCB cn 10 Cepterber tke Naola

tower began calling SE-BDY receatedly but received no reply. At G030

Captain Depre, the pilot of CC-RIC, asked clearance to take off for Salisbury
and was instructed by the tower "to hold position until the landing of SE-BDY".
With the approval of the tower he toc called SE-BDY but received no reply.

At CO%5B Captaln Deppe tock off and agalin called SE-RDY without success. At .

funn
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0115 the Ndola tower telerhoned the police and asked if any crasnes or explosidis
had been repcrted in the area. The revly was negative. The Air . 12t Manager of
Ndola alsc called the Duty Controller at Salisbury and the tower at Lusaka and was
told that nothing was kncwn of SE~BDY.
169. At C15CB the Salisoury FIC received Ffrom the Ndola tcwer priority signal
No. Z.40 requesting news of SE-EDY and stating that contact had been lost with
the aircraft. The Centre relayed the signal by teleprinter to Johannesburg for _
transnissicn tc Leopoldv117e. At OlMEB the Ndola tower or¢01nated the Ilr%t - . ﬁ
INCERFA signal. The signal, numbered ZC 41, reached the Salisbury FIC at 0216
and was relayed by teleprinter to Johannesburg for transmission to lLeopcldville.
17C. At scme time between 02CCB and 03CCB - the evidence is_contradictq:y as to
the ﬁrééiéé time - the Manager df Ndola éirport left the airport and retired for
the night to his hotel in Ndola. At O31CB the Air Traffic Controller on duty
at Ndola asked the FIC af Séiiéﬁﬁfy for permissiorn torclose the contrcl towef.
for the night. The permission was granted and the Air Traffic Contfoller ei55e§_
the tower, ieaving a coﬁmuniéétor_on duty._“;t nay ke explained that a ccmmunicator
is a radio operafbf who recelves and transmits messages originated by an Alr
Traffic Ccantroller but does not normally initiate messages.,
17i. Shortly afterwards, two police officers arrived at Ndola airport and informed
P
the communicator cn duty that at approximately CC2CB Assistant Inspector wan Wyk W
had seen an aircraft fly over the Ndola airfield and disapprear from sight in a J
westerly direction. A few minutes later van Wyk had observed a flash in the sky

in the direction in which the aircraft had disappeared. AT the reguest of the /

S — e

'Cmeunlcator, Whu Was unaBIe to reach the Airport Manager by telephone, the tuc

police officers went to the Manager's hotel and told him about the flash. They
also informed Lim that the police were sending patrols to investigate éhe flash.
The Manager stated that nothing else could be done before first light and rebi. el
to his rocm. Ihe Ndols and Mufulira police sent out scveﬂal rabtrols in
"Iandrovers” in the dlrectlon where the flach had been seen, vutbt nothing was found.
172« At OSSFB an Alr Traffic Controller arrived at Ndola Airport and tThe hover
resumed operaticns. At CELSB the Controller sent the following signal to the

Salisbury FIC:

"ZC.2 INCERFA. PERSCN REPCETED TO THE PCLICE HERE SEEN GREAT FIASH
IN THE SKY AT AIRPCRT. 23CCZ IN DIRECTICN CF MUFULIRA."
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17%. At C653B the RCC of Salisbury issued a DETRESFA signal reading as follows:

"DETRESFA RCCI ~ REQUEST REPLY IMMEDIATE TC NDCLA SIGNAL ZC..4C REFERENCE
SE~ILY CVERHEAD NDOLA AT 2210 NIL ARRIVAL NDCLA EX LEOPCLDVILLE STOP
SEND FLIGHT PIAN DETAILS - NIL DEPARTURE SIGNAL RECEIVED"

The signal was sent to Ndola, Elisabethville and Johannesburg for transmission
by teleprinter to Leoroldville. Effcrts were also made to contact Leopoldville
by radic. These were not immediately successful although the high frequency (HF)
alr grcund facilities at Leopoldville operated by ICAQO personnel were manned
throughout the night. While this was not a recognized channel for point to point
communication, it had, according to ICAO personnel at the Leoroldville FIC, been
used previously between Salisbgry and Leopoldville as the only reliable meané of
ccummunication.
174, At 0O720B Jchannesburg advised Salisbury that it had not been possible to
transmit to Leopoldville any of the signals referred to above and that it was not
expected that contact could be made with Leopoldville before 0O80CB.
175. At CT74LB the RCC of Salisbury received a signal frcm Leopoldville stating
that they had no news of SE-BDY. Shortly afterwards, the Centre alerted the
police in the area to the disappearance of SE-BDY.
176. After a telephone conversation with Ndola reported to have cccurred at
approximately O9C(B, the RCC confirmed by signal a request that the Royal
Rhodesian Air Force detachment stationed at Ndola began an air search for SE-BDY.
This signal was received by the RRAF at C942B. The air search started at 10COB.
177. At 141CB the Director of Civil Aviation appointed the manager of Ndola
Alrport as Civil Air Search Cfficer. @
178. At 151CB one of the aircraft particirating in the search sighted the
wreckage of SE-BDY from the air. Meanwhile police officers informed by local P

inhgbitants who had sighted the wreckage, arrived at the crash site.

C. ANALYSIS OF THE SEARCH AND RESCUE ACTION AND REPLIES
TC THE QUESTICNS ASKED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY IN
FARAGRAPH 3 (c) OF RESOLUTTON 1628 (XVI)
179. Paragraph 3 (c) of General Assembly resolution 1628 (XVI) in effect requests .

the Ccrmission to answer the following three questions:

Jonn
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(l) Did SE-BDY, after having established contact with the Ndola tower, lose
that contact?
(2) Did the fact that SE-BDY had crashed beccme known only after a delay
of several hours?
(5) If so, what were the reasons for that delay?
With respect to the first question, the Commission observes that the crash
occurred approximately 5 minutes after the last radio communication between the
Ndcla tcwer and SE-BDY. It found no evidence to show that in those last 5 minutes
the tcwer or the aircraft attempted to communicate with each other and were
prevented from doing so by radio failure.
180. As regards the second question, the Commission observes that while
apprehension about the fate of SE-BDY increased during the night of 17-18 September,
especially when by the early morning of 18 September the endurance of the aircraft
must have been exhausted, the fact that it had crashed was not definitely
established until a ground party reached the wreckage shortly after 15CCB.
181, In order to answer the third question, the Commission has analysed the
Search and Rescue operation summarized in the preceding section and has come to
the conclusion that delays occurred in issuing the first INCERFA and DETRESFA

signals and in initiating an air search.

1. The delay in the issuance of the first INCERFA signal

182. Under paragraph 8(b) of the "Procedures for Search and Rescue Action", the
uncertainty phase for SE~BDY began at CO50B, or 30 minutes after the estimated
time of arrival last notified by the aircraft to the Ndola tower (see [
vara. 163 above). The first INCERFA signal, however, was originated by the tower |

52 minutes later, at 0142B. Moreover, another 34 minutes elapsed before the

signal reached the FIC at Salisbury.
183. Officials of the Department of Civil Aviation heard as witnesses by the
Ccmmiésion attempted to jg;tify this delay by referring to what the report Of
the Fedéral_Commissiop”QfVInquiry called the "attitude of mind" of the Manager
of Ndola airport. o - o | | ' o
IBLL.This attitude of mind appears to have been caused by two sets of

circumstances. First there was the nature of the flight of SE-BDY. In this

respect, the Airport Manager, in the course of the hearings before the Federal
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Cormrissicn of Inguiry, was aslked whether he was "particularly worried about this
plane” when SE-BDY failed to land after its last communication with the Ndola

tower. He ansvered: "No, bearlnc 1n mlnd the nature cf the flight and the

o R

s\__/*\
very circumstances which thls fllght starued with, T was not comceraed qg,pgls

—_— e

—— e

TN
stage'. TVhen he was asked what he meant by "the naturecf the fllght",he said:

"This is a £light of which we had no fllght plan, no departure signal, no
) — T T
information passed to Control in the conventlonal or nqrmal manner which 1s

usual under an ICAC operation for any f11ght operatlng in tne JFederation or

a1

in or around the Federatlon .
T S
185, Tne Commission belleves 1nat at least scme Of the mystery whrch surrounded

T e e et e g e T

the [light of SE- EDY in the mlud of the Alrport Nanager mlght have been dlspelled

S .
3T he had been adeguately 1pformed of the s1gnal announ01ng the departure of _

,,,,,,, e e ettt . A= o

the Secretary-General for Ndola addreqsed by Ambassador Rlches to Lord Alport

o ey D i 37 et iy e A
N aiatat

the Brltlgﬁvﬁzzrvagmmlss;oner Tor the Federatlon of Rhode51a and Nydbdland‘

—— —— et e
e - e e
e e e A e, g .

Tt will be recalled that in this 51gnal Ambassador RICheq specifically stated

e e et e

i
that "flight details will be notified direct from the aircraft". However, the

EE%EaI\tex%‘EEfEEE'SIg;;z:"QAd in rarticular the sentence guoted above, was nct
known "o the Derartment of Civil Aviagtion and to the aviation officials who in
fact received the flight details from the aircraft.

186. The sccond set of circumstances which influenced the Airport Manager's

attitude of mind arose from the presence of Lord Alport at Ndols dur1ng the

e e .

nicit of 17-18 September 1961. 1In a statement glwen to the Federal Lamm1°s1on
Aef iﬁg&ify;“ié%é”ﬁiﬁS?%’éﬁiiéined that when he had been informed that contact
had been lost with SE-BDY after COl0B, he had thought that:

".e. the reason for bregking off contact with Ndola might be that

Mr. Hammarskjold's plane had been informed by one of the United States <
attachéls planes on Ndols airfield that Lord Lansdowne had only just

taken off and that, in view of Mr. HammarskjCld's expressed wish,

the Leopoldville plane had gone off for a short time to allow for a

definite interval btetween Lord Lansdowne's departure and Mr. Hammarskjold's

arrival. Alternatively, I thought that Mr. Hammarskjcld's plane might be

remaining airborne until the transmission of the message or telephone

conversation, on which it was engaged, had been ccmpleted.

o,
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"After thirty minutes or more had elapsed, I thought it possible that
scmething had occurred in Elisabethville or that Mr, Hammarskjold had
recelved a message frcem Leopoldville or New York which made him decide
to postpone his meeting with Mr. Tshcmbé and to go elsewhere. It did
not strike me as strange that Mr. Hammarskjold should not notify Ndola
of his intentions, partly because of the circumspect attitude of the
alrcraft in its contact with Ndola Ccntrol, and partly because I thought
that he would wish, if indeed he had changed his mind, to have a proper
opportunity of dealing with the publicity which would ensuve. At 0115 hours
Mr. Villiams /the Ndola Airport Nanduer/ asked me whether I thought that
hé should’ put into oneratlon the mormal overdue Drocedare which T Tk
understood were due to operate 60 minutes after contact had been—1ost. o
T said to him that he should institute whatever procedures were proper
in the circumstances and as far as I was aware this was immediately done.

"Mr. Williams, at my request, had, throughout this period, kept me
in close touch with the position as far as it was known to Ndola Control
and was, Of course, aware of my view that something must have caused
Mr. Hammarskjold to change his mind and to decide-not to land at Ndola
as previously intended. It is natural that this, together with the
failure of the Leopoldville plane to follow routine procedures,
influenced Mr. Willlams' subsequent actions."”

187. The Ccmm1831on regrets that impressions of a political nature were alloved

to anlaence the actlon of av1a+10n offlclals engaged in a search and rescye

e e e T e TN e

operatloﬂ° It observes, furthermore, that these impressions were in marked

contrast to the views of Lord Tansdowne, who told the Commission:

"T am absolutely convinced in my own mind, from the conversations I had /
with the late Secretary-General, that he was determined to go to Ndols f
and to put himself at the disposal of Mr. Tshombé for the talks which :
he regarded as so important. I am absolutely convinced of thatv, from
everything that Mr. Hammarsk]Jold said to me and from everything that

vwe discussed together ...

So far as I am concerned, this was a plan that the Secretary-General had
mede and that he was determined to carry out."

Unfortunately it would appear tbat Lord Alport and the av1atwons oleclals were
not awafe of thls.

s T

et o e
188. The Commission also observed that, unll&e Lord Alport and the officials

at Ndola Alrport Lord Lansdowne became very apprehen51ve when he was informed

that contact had been los+ wwth QE“BDY. He told the Comm1351on that whlle‘

[

flying to SalWSEWTy on CO- RIC he notlced that "Captain Deppe, a very experienced

e e

pilot, was cleafly perturbed by this absence‘of eoptact NatJra]ly, SpeaKan T
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to him about this matter, Mr. Uilford and I became very apprehensive, too. When

we 152525‘5512;§£é%ﬁz§7~@w~fzygf”qaésfzaa“tb\fhe“Deputy‘High”commissioner,

Mr. Scott, was, [Have you any newe “of the Secretary General's alrcraft9" To my

s

dismay he said that he had none. By then T was in a state of very con31derable
e

e = [P

diquiet. T cculd not think what on earth had happened .o I do not thlnk that

i, e o

there was any doubt in Mr. Scott‘s mln@ that Captaln Deppe the Captaln of our -

e RPN

N

aircraft, Mr. Wllford and I were all extremely apprehen31ve .

L LT PSR

2 The delay in the issuance of the first DETRESFA signal

189. The first DETRESFA signal was issued by the RCC of Salisbury at 0653R,

4 hours and 37 minutes after the reception of the first INCERFA signal. There
appear to have been two main reasons for this delay.

190, In the first place, the evidence before the Commission shows that the
attitude of mind of the Manager of the Ndola airport was shared to a great extent
by the officials on duty at the Salisbury FIC. This is demonstrated by the
following examples.

191. At 012CB on 18 September, the Manager of the Salisbury airport called the
Director of Civil Aviation and told him that SE-BDY had flown cver Ndola and
"pushed off again.

I§§T—EH;~EEE;foller on duty at Salisbury frocm 1930B on 17 September to C6COB

on 18 September testified that he had derived the impression from a conversation
with the Deputy High Commissioner "that 1t was quite likely that the aircraft was
returning to Leopoldville".

193. In a hearing before the Ccmmission, the Senior Alr Traffic Controller of
Salisbury expressed the view that "had this been a normal flight, by that I mean,
had we received a flight plan and had there not been the security check on the
aircraft, and had the pilot done what we would normally expect him to do and
been cleared dcun to 6,000 feet and we had lost contact with him, I think we
might have gone into the alert stage ...". The witness had in mind the rules

laid dcwn in paragraph 9(b) of the "Procedures" for an aircraft which had been

"eleared to land and fails to land within five minutes of the estimated time

of landing".
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194, Cfficials of the FIC of Salisbury and of the Federal Department of Civil
Aviation testifiied that they did not expect Captain Hallonguist to respect the
prescribed rules since he had been "secretive'" in his communication with Salisburyg

and Ndola and since aircraft chartered by the United Netions often viclate the
-2
Standards and Reccmmended Practice laid down by ICAO : for international flights.

R
g

As regards the first point the Commission finds that the log of communications

1

between SE-BDY and Salisbury or Ndola does not substantiate the accusation of

secrecy. The COHmlSSIOn believes that the second point is entirely irrelevant.

v, s v S S e e e e

It fails to see any conneXion between the search and rescue operations concerning

SE BDY and the past behaViour _of other aircraft chartered, by _the United Nation

Tt cons1ders, therefore, that the allegation that aircraft chartered by the
United Nations engaged on international flights have Violated ICAO Standards and

e e s st e — i~

Recommended Practice falls outSide of 1ts terms of reference. However, as a body

of an organization dedicated to the respect of international rules, it cannot Z

fail to bring this allegation to the attention of the appropriate authorities.
195. In the second place, it was argued vefore the Commission that no DETRESFA
signal would normally have been issued so long as the FIC at Salisbury had
recelved no reply to the INCERFA's addressed to Leopoldville. The official who
originated the 0653B signal testified that, in issuing the signal before the

N ———
e — i a

reception of a reply from Leopoldville, he had tgggged_the gnnf,

196. The Ccmmission is unable to find in the "Procedures for Search and Rescue
Action" any provision which would require that no DISTRESFA-signal be issued so
long as one of the flight information centres concerned had failed to reply to an
INCERFA signal addressed to it. The CommisSion further observes that the FIC

at Salisbury made no effort to ascertain from Johannesburg whetber the teletype
signals which Johannspburg had been requested to relay to Leopoldv1lle had _
actually been>received by the latters It finds this cmission.ail the more
surprising in view of bbe fact that the evidence vefore it shows that deléys

in communication between flight information centres in Africa were not limited

to communications between Salisbury and Teopoldville. : -
197. At the sameitime;‘fhe Commission cannot but deplore the disorganized state
of the teletype ccmmunications at Leopoldville airport as revealed by the evidence

before it.

[ooe
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e The delay in the initiation of an air search

198. The Ccmmission cbserves that no air search for SE-BDY was undertaken by the

RRAF until 1CCCB on 18 September - that is, more than eight hours after the

issuance of the first INCERFA signal. It further observes that eighteen aircraft
s e - el .

e -

were stationed at Ndola at the time and that their ccmmanding officer testifiedr

SN =TT e

that, with one hour's notice)_ggﬁzgﬁld have sent them up at first light. 1In fact,
it was only at C9L42B that the signal from the RCC at Salisbury was received which
the RRAF required to begin the search.

199. It should also be noted trat seven hcours before the beginning of the air
search the ccumunicator on duty at the Ndola alrport had been informed bty the
rolice that Assistant Iuspector van Wyk had reported seeing a flash in the sky

in the direction in which SE-ELDY had disappeared. Commenting on the significance
of the information supplied by Assistant Inspector van Wyk, the Rhodesian

Ccrmission of Tnquiry writes in its report:

"The report of Assistant Inspector van Wyk came frcm a responsible
rolice officer and had been thought by his superiors sufficiently cogent

/ to justify a search by rcad, which, because of the extensive bush areas,

’ could not reliably exclude the possibility that the phencmenon he witnessed
was associated with the apparent disappearance of SE-BDY. That it could
nct unreasonably in ordinary circumstances be attributed to a bush fire
or an electric discharge we would accept, but its coincidence in time with
the loss of all contact with SE~BDY seems to us encugh tc make it a clear
warning that an urgent situaticn had arisen, despite non~receipt of signals
frcm Leopoldville until 0550 (7.5C a.m.), and certainly after that time.
¥hen to this is added the feature that a defined segmental area with a
radius of cnly a few minntes of flight was required to be sesarched for
investigation of the report, we think that initiative on the part of so
respcnglble an officer as an Airport Manager would have caused him to
invite R.C.C. Salisbury to authorize one of the available R.R.AF. aircraft
to undertake the task. Discovery of the crash site might then have been
made scme hours before it was and the living survivor been given succour
before further exposure to the tropical sun had aggravated the burns sustained
in the crash." (annex III, part 9).

—

2CC. The Commisslon entirely subscribes to this view expressed by the Rhodesian

Ccaomission of Inquiry. It notes, however, that in ancther passage of_ the report

——ar

the Federal Ccmmission appears to place the epfire responsibility for the delay
nisst ALLTe TESRONS1bL Ll r she A

e s e

in the initiation cf a search.en-de. Williams, the Manager of Ndola Airport.

The tassage reads:

—

¢

~
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"It is true that responsibility for liaison with the R.R.AF. is ...
laid upon the Salisbury Rescue Co-ordination Centre, but as this for its
initiation would reguire a report from Ndola, it 1s reasonable to assume
that a report by Mr. Williams to R.C.C. Salisbury at first light that he
was apprehensive of the safety of the aircraft by reason, inter alia, of a
report of a flash or glow in the sky in the Mufulira direction and timed
only a few minutes after its departure from earshct, would have produced
the authority required to enlist the ald of the R.R.A.F. for an immediate
air search of the vicinity" (ibid.).

201. The Commission must observe in this respect that, while it is true that

Mr. Williams took no action when he was informed of Assistant Inspector van Wyk's
report, the Air Traffic Controller at Ndola originated at O6L5B a signal
transmitting the substance of the repcrt to the Flight Information Centre of
Salisbury (see para. 172 above). The Commission can only regret that an

additional 2 hours and 45 minuteé elapsed béfére the issuvance by the RCC at

\ i
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that the Director of Civil Aviation who assumed the functions of Civil Air Search '
Cfficer until 1L10B testified that it was only at 0O9COB that he had been informed
of the signal originated at CO6LS5B by the Air Traffic Controller of Ndola. This,

however, in the Ccmmission's view, cannot absolve the Federal Pepartment of Civil

Aviation of the responsibility for the delay in the initiation of an air search.
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V. SUMMARY CP THE VIEWS CF THE COMMISSION

202. In concluding its report, the Ccmmission wishes to submit the following
summary of its views on the conditicns and circumstances surrounding the tragic

death of Dag Hammarskjold and the members of his party.

Preparation for the flight

203+ The Commission believes that the decision to leave for Ndola by air in the

——————e

afternoon of 17 September 1961 was taken by the Secretary-General himself in view

SN}

;_w
of the mission which he had to perform. In taking that decision the Secretary-

General was fully aware that the flight would have to be carried out without escort
and that most of it would be made by night. The Commission also believes that the
crew of the aircraf't chosen for the Secretary-General was fully gualified to
undertake the flight, to navigate in radio silence and to land at Ndola in
darkness. The Captain and the cother crew members were experienced, competent

and conscientious. No vioclation of the rules limiting flight hours of crew
members appears to have been committed.

204, The Commission is satisfied that the Secretary-Generalls aircraft had been
properly maintained and was fully airworthy. It believes, in particular, that

the damage suffered by the aircraft at Elisabethville on the previous night had
been adequately repaired. The Commission observes that no flight plan or
departure message was ccumunicated to the FIC at Salisbury. It is of the

opinion that the situation created by the hostilities in Katanga, in particular
by the activity of the jet aircraft equipped for aerial combat which was at the
time in the service of the Katangese armed forces, explains this departure

frcm the rules applicable to international civil aviation.

205. The Commission regrets, however, that before the take-off from Leopoldville,
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1nformatlon was not given to a responsible official of CNUC of the route whlch
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the plI“E 1ntended to follow. It also believes that special securlty measures
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should have been taken to guard ‘the Secretary General‘s alrcraft at N'Dglll
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airport before the take~off. Though it has no reason to belleve that elther
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of these omissions was a contributing cause of the crash, it considers that both
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were potentially dangerous.
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Possible causes of the crash

2C6. The Commission has carefully examined all possible causes of the accident.
It has considered the possibility of sabotage or of attack and the material or
human faillures which could have resulted in an accident. It has found no

evidence to support any of the particular theories that have been advanced nor has

it been able to exclude the possible cgauses which it has considered. In this
connexion it notes that the United Nations and the Swedish observers who
particirated in the work of the Rhodesian Board of Investigation also expressed
the opinion that it was impossible to exclude any of the possible causes which
they considered or to establish an order of priority among them.

207« With respect to sabotage it has noted that the aircraft was without special
guard while it was at N'DJili Airport in Leopoldville and access to it was not
impossible. The Commission is aware that there are many possible methods of
sabotage. No ev1dence of sabotage has come to 1ts attentlon but the
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poss;bl}}ty cgnnot be excluded.
208. The possibility of attack from either the air or the ground has also been
fully examined. The Ccmmission has found no evidence that an attack of any
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kind occurred, It has also noted the opinion of experts that it is improbable
i

that the plane would have been in the apparently normal approach position
indicated by the crash path and wreckage analysis had it been under attack.

Nevertheless 1t cannot exclude attack as a p0531ble cause of the crash.

o
209. The Commlsslon has also consldered various p0551b111t1es of materlal
failure, including technical or structural defects, altimeter failure or fire

in flight. A thorough analysis of that rart of the wreckage capable of being
examined was made by technical experts, including members of the Rhodesian
Becard of Investigation and United Nations and Swedish observers. The altimeters
were examined in the United States by the Civil Aeronautics Board and the
manufacturer. No evidence of material failure of the aircraft was found,

but this possibility cannot be excluded, mainly becavse of the destruction

of a wajor part of the aircraft by fire.

210. The Ccmmission also considered various possibilities of human failure.

It found no evidence that any of the pilots had been incapacitated. It cannot,

however, completely exclude this possibility as some forms of incapacity might
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not be revealed by a post-mortem examination. It also considered variocus
possibilities of pilot error, including the use of a wrong instrument approach
chart or a misreading of altimeters. It noted that the Fhodesian inquiry, by

eliminating to its satisfaction other possible causes, had_reached the conclusion

?Eiirthe probable cause of the crash was pilot error. The Conm1551on, while‘;t
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cannot-exclude this possibility, has found no 1nd1catlon that thls was the probable
& T S S psniiely

cause of the crash.

211. The Ccmmission considered the possibility that during the course of a visual
or semi-visual approach or through the use of an instrument procedure involving a
descending turn, the aircraft might have come below the accepted safety margin of
1,CC0 feet above ground level. On scme landing charts, information concerning
exact elevations in the apprcach area 1s not provided and should the aircraft
have descended below the accepted margin a wmomentary distraction, either frcm
inside or ocutside the aircraft, might have caused the pilot to lose the remainder

of his margin of safety. The Commission, however, has found no ev1dence ‘that this
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could have been a possible cause of'thc crash.
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212. The Commission considers it its duty to record that it has examined the

various rumours that have ccme to its attention concerning the cause of the crash

and has found no evidence in their support.

Search and rescue operations

215+ As regards search and rescue action, the Commission notes that, although SE-BDY
crashed 9.5 miles from an airfield on which eighteen military aircraft capable of
carrying out an air search were stationed, the wreckage was located by the

Rhodesian authorities only 15 hours after the crash and more than 9 hours after

first light on 18 September 1961. The Commission is fully aware of the difficulty
of conducting an air search over an area covered with bush and forest. It
believes, nevertheless, that in the present case the delay in commencing search
and rescue operations was increased by shortcomings in liaison and co-operation
between the gviation officials concerned, by lack of initiative and diligence

on their part and by delay in applying the prescribed procedures. Undue weight

N appeared to be attached to the groundless impression that the Secretary-General 4.

had changed his mind after flying over Ndola and decided tc land at another airport
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